
222

Planning and Rights of Way Panel

Tuesday, 12th March, 2019
at 6.00 pm

PLEASE NOTE TIME OF MEETING
Conference Rooms 3 & 4 - Civic 
Centre

This meeting is open to the public

Members
Councillor Savage (Chair)
Councillor Coombs (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Claisse
Councillor L Harris
Councillor Mitchell
Councillor Murphy
Councillor Wilkinson

Contacts
Democratic Support Officer
Ed Grimshaw
Tel: 023 8083 2390
Email: ed.grimshaw@southampton.gov.uk 

Service Lead - Planning Infrastructure and 
Development
Samuel Fox
Tel: 023 8083 2044
Email: samuel.fox@southampton.gov.uk

Public Document Pack

mailto:ed.grimshaw@southampton.gov.uk
mailto:samuel.fox@southampton.gov.uk


2

PUBLIC INFORMATION

ROLE OF THE PLANNING AND RIGHTS 
OF WAY PANEL

SMOKING POLICY – The Council operates a no-
smoking policy in all civic buildings

The Panel deals with various planning and 
rights of way functions.  It determines 
planning applications and is consulted on 
proposals for the draft development plan.

PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS
Procedure / Public Representations
At the discretion of the Chair, members of the 
public may address the meeting on any 
report included on the agenda in which they 
have a relevant interest. Any member of the 
public wishing to address the meeting should 
advise the Democratic Support Officer (DSO) 
whose contact details are on the front sheet 
of the agenda. 

The Southampton City Council Strategy 
(2016-2020) is a key document and sets out 
the four key outcomes that make up our 
vision.

 Southampton has strong and 
sustainable economic growth

 Children and young people get a good 
start in life 

 People in Southampton live safe, 
healthy, independent lives

 Southampton is an attractive modern 
City, where people are proud to live 
and work

MOBILE TELEPHONES:- Please switch your 
mobile telephones to silent whilst in the meeting 
USE OF SOCIAL MEDIA:- The Council supports 
the video or audio recording of meetings open to 
the public, for either live or subsequent 
broadcast. However, if, in the Chair’s opinion, a 
person filming or recording a meeting or taking 
photographs is interrupting proceedings or 
causing a disturbance, under the Council’s 
Standing Orders the person can be ordered to 
stop their activity, or to leave the meeting. 
By entering the meeting room you are consenting 
to being recorded and to the use of those images 
and recordings for broadcasting and or/training 
purposes. The meeting may be recorded by the 
press or members of the public.
Any person or organisation filming, recording or 
broadcasting any meeting of the Council is 
responsible for any claims or other liability 
resulting from them doing so.
Details of the Council’s Guidance on the 
recording of meetings is available on the 
Council’s website.

FIRE PROCEDURE – In the event of a fire or 
other emergency a continuous alarm will sound 
and you will be advised by Council officers what 
action to take.

ACCESS – Access is available for disabled 
people. Please contact the Democratic Support 
Officer who will help to make any necessary 
arrangements.

Dates of Meetings: Municipal Year 2017/18

2018
29 May 11 September
19 June 9 October 
10 July 13 November
31 July 11 December
21 August

2019
8 January 12 March
29 January 2 April
26 February 23 April

http://www.southampton.gov.uk/Images/Council-strategy-2016-20_tcm63-387729.pdf
http://www.southampton.gov.uk/Images/Council-strategy-2016-20_tcm63-387729.pdf


3

CONDUCT OF MEETING

TERMS OF REFERENCE BUSINESS TO BE DISCUSSED

The terms of reference of the Planning 
and Rights of Way Panel are contained in 
Part 3 (Schedule 2) of the Council’s 
Constitution

Only those items listed on the attached agenda 
may be considered at this meeting.

RULES OF PROCEDURE QUORUM

The meeting is governed by the Council 
Procedure Rules as set out in Part 4 of 
the Constitution.

The minimum number of appointed Members 
required to be in attendance to hold the 
meeting is 3.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
Members are required to disclose, in accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct, both 
the existence and nature of any “Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” or “Other Interest” they 
may have in relation to matters for consideration on this Agenda.

DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS
A Member must regard himself or herself as having a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any 
matter that they or their spouse, partner, a person they are living with as husband or wife, 
or a person with whom they are living as if they were a civil partner in relation to: 
(i) Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain.
(ii) Sponsorship:

Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from Southampton 
City Council) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any expense 
incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election 
expenses. This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within 
the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.

(iii) Any contract which is made between you / your spouse etc (or a body in which the 
you / your spouse etc has a beneficial interest) and Southampton City Council under 
which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed, and which 
has not been fully discharged.

(iv) Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of Southampton.

(v) Any license (held alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of 
Southampton for a month or longer.

(vi) Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) the landlord is Southampton City Council 
and the tenant is a body in which you / your spouse etc has a beneficial interests.

(vii) Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where that body (to your knowledge) 
has a place of business or land in the area of Southampton, and either:
a) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of 

the total issued share capital of that body, or
b) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 

value of the shares of any one class in which you / your spouse etc has a 
beneficial interest that exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital 
of that class.



4

OTHER INTERESTS

A Member must regard himself or herself as having an, ‘Other Interest’ in any membership 
of, or  occupation of a position of general control or management in:

Any body to which they  have been appointed or nominated by Southampton City 
Council
Any public authority or body exercising functions of a public nature
Any body directed to charitable purposes
Any body whose principal purpose includes the influence of public opinion or policy

PRINCIPLES OF DECISION MAKING

All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the following principles:-

 proportionality (i.e. the action must be proportionate to the desired outcome);
 due consultation and the taking of professional advice from officers;
 respect for human rights;
 a presumption in favour of openness, accountability and transparency;
 setting out what options have been considered;
 setting out reasons for the decision; and
 clarity of aims and desired outcomes.

In exercising discretion, the decision maker must:

 understand the law that regulates the decision making power and gives effect to it.  The 
decision-maker must direct itself properly in law;

 take into account all relevant matters (those matters which the law requires the authority 
as a matter of legal obligation to take into account);

 leave out of account irrelevant considerations;
 act for a proper purpose, exercising its powers for the public good;
 not reach a decision which no authority acting reasonably could reach, (also known as 

the “rationality” or “taking leave of your senses” principle);
 comply with the rule that local government finance is to be conducted on an annual 

basis.  Save to the extent authorised by Parliament, ‘live now, pay later’ and forward 
funding are unlawful; and

 act with procedural propriety in accordance with the rules of fairness.



5

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES AND CHANGES IN PANEL MEMBERSHIP (IF ANY) 

To note any changes in membership of the Panel made in accordance with Council 
Procedure Rule 4.3.

2  DISCLOSURE OF PERSONAL AND PECUNIARY INTERESTS 

In accordance with the Localism Act 2011, and the Council’s Code of Conduct, 
Members to disclose any personal or pecuniary interests in any matter included on the 
agenda for this meeting.

3  STATEMENT FROM THE CHAIR 

4  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (INCLUDING MATTERS ARISING) 
(Pages 1 - 6)

To approve and sign as a correct record the Minutes of the meetings held on 26 
February 2019 and to deal with any matters arising.

5  MARLHILL COPSE FELLING LICENCE AND APPLICATION FOR WORKS 
SUBJECT TO A TREE PRESERVATION ORDER. 
(Pages 7 - 98)

Report of the Service Director for Transactions & Universal Services detailing 
considerations in relation to Marlhill Copse

6  FACILITATION OF PHASE 1 OF SCN10 – A3024 BURSLEDON ROAD 
(Pages 99 - 102)

Report of Head of Transactions and Universal Service seeking permission to fell and 
replant Council owned trees to facilitate Phase 1 of SCN10 – A3024 Bursledon Road.

CONSIDERATION OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS

7  PLANNING APPLICATION - 18/02272/FUL - 182-184 BITTERNE ROAD WEST 
(Pages 107 - 192)

Report of the Service Lead, Planning, Infrastructure and Development recommending 
that the Panel delegate approval in respect of an application for a proposed 
development at the above address.



6

8  PLANNING APPLICATION - 18/02228/FUL - PARKER HOUSE, CENTENARY 
QUAY 
(Pages 193 - 202)

Report of the Service Lead, Planning, Infrastructure and Development recommending 
that conditional approval be granted in respect of an application for a proposed 
development at the above address.

9  QUARTERLY DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT FIGURES 
(Pages 203 - 206)

Report of the Service Lead - Infrastructure, Planning and Development detailing key 
planning metrics for information and consideration. 

Monday, 4 March 2019 Director of Legal and Governance



- 62 -

PLANNING AND RIGHTS OF WAY PANEL
MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 26 FEBRUARY 2019

Present: Councillors Savage (Chair), Coombs (Vice-Chair), L Harris, Mitchell, 
Murphy, Wilkinson and B Harris

Apologies: Councillors Claisse

56. APOLOGIES AND CHANGES IN PANEL MEMBERSHIP (IF ANY) 
It was noted that following receipt of the temporary resignation of Councillor Claisse 
from the Panel, the Director Legal and Governance acting under delegated powers, had 
appointed Councillor B Harris to replace them for the purposes of this meeting.

57. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (INCLUDING MATTERS ARISING) 
RESOLVED: that the minutes for the Panel meeting on 29 January 2019 be approved 
and signed as a correct record. 

58. PLANNING APPLICATION - 18/01820/FUL - FIRE HOUSE, VINCENTS WALK 
The Panel considered the report of the Service Lead, Planning, Infrastructure and 
Development recommending delegated authority be granted in respect of an application 
for a proposed development at the above address.

Redevelopment of the site. Demolition of the existing building and the erection of a 9-13 
storey building comprising 39 flats (11 x 2-bedroom and 28 x 1-bedroom) together with 
160 sq.m of commercial floorspace (Use Class A1)

Simon Reynier (City of Southampton Society) and Graham Linecar (Southampton 
Commons and Parks Protection Society and The Garden Trust), George Makari 
(applicant), Paul Phasey(Architect), Rob Parhizakar (supporter) were present and with 
the consent of the Chair, addressed the meeting.

The presenting officer reported that late comments from Southampton Airport had been 
received and that they had raised no objection subject to conditions regarding lighting 
and construction management. The officer reported that the proposed lighting and 
construction environment conditions had been amended to take into account these 
comments. Additionally it was reported that further correspondence had been received 
by the NHS but that this had not affected the report.  In response to the Panel’s 
concerns officers agreed that an additional conditions to secure ventilation for the bin 
storage area and that the condition relating to a green roof be amended, as set out 
below.

Upon being put to the vote the Panel confirmed the Habitats Regulation Assessment. 
The Panel then considered the recommendation to delegate authority to the Service 
Lead: Planning, Infrastructure and Development to grant planning permission. Upon 
being put to the vote the recommendation was carried.

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



- 63 -

RECORDED VOTE to grant planning permission 
FOR: Councillors Coombs, Mitchell, Murphy and Savage
AGAINST: Councilors B Harris, L Harris and Wilkinson

RESOLVED that the Panel:

(i) confirmed the Habitats Regulation Assessment set out in Appendix 1 of the 
report.

(ii) Delegated Delegate to the Service Lead – Infrastructure, Planning & 
Development to grant planning permission, subject to the planning conditions 
within the report and the additional conditions set out below, the completion of a 
S.106 Legal Agreement to secure:

(a) Financial contributions towards site specific transport contributions for 
highway improvements in the vicinity of the site in line with Policy 
SDP4 of the City of Southampton Local Plan Review (as amended 
2015), policies CS18 and CS25 of the adopted LDF Core Strategy (as 
amended 2015) and the adopted SPD relating to Planning Obligations 
(September 2013

(b) Submission of a highway condition survey to ensure any damage to 
the adjacent highway network attributable to the build process is 
repaired by the developer:

(c) Either a scheme of measures or a financial contribution towards Solent 
Disturbance Mitigation Project to mitigate against the pressure on 
European designated nature conservation sites in accordance with 
Policy CS22 of the Core Strategy and the Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2010.

(d) Submission of a Training & Employment Management Plan committing 
to adopting local labour and employment initiatives, in accordance with 
Policies CS24 & CS25 of the Local Development Framework Core 
Strategy Development Plan Document - Adopted Version (as 
amended 2015) and the adopted SPD relating to Planning Obligations 
(September 2013);

(e) The submission, approval and implementation of a Carbon 
Management Plan setting out how the carbon neutrality will be 
achieved and/or how remaining carbon emissions from the 
development will be mitigated in accordance with policy CS20 of the 
Core Strategy and the Planning Obligations SPD (September 2013); 

(f) Affordable housing viability clause:

(iii) In the event that the legal agreement is not completed or progressing within a 
reasonable timeframe after the Planning and Rights of Way Panel, the Service 
Lead – Infrastructure, Planning and Development will be authorised to refuse 
permission on the ground of failure to secure the provisions of the Section 106 
Legal Agreement, unless an extension of time agreement has been entered into; 
and 

(iv) That the Planning and Development Manager be given delegated powers to add, 
vary and /or delete relevant parts of the Section 106 agreement and/or 
conditions as necessary.

Page 2



- 64 -

Amended Condition

20. GREEN ROOF (PRE-COMMENCEMENT)

A green roof specification shall be submitted and agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the development hereby granted 
consent. The green roof to the approved specification shall be installed and rendered 
fully operational prior to the first occupation of the development hereby granted consent 
and retained and maintained thereafter.

REASON: To reduce flood risk and manage surface water run-off in accordance with 
core strategy policy CS20 (Tackling and Adapting to Climate Change) and CS23 (Flood 
risk), combat the effects of climate change through mitigating the heat island effect in 
accordance with policy CS20, enhance energy efficiency through improved insulation in 
accordance with core strategy policy CS20, promote biodiversity in accordance with 
core strategy policy CS22 (Promoting Biodiversity and Protecting Habitats), contribute 
to a high quality environment and 'greening the city' in accordance with core strategy 
policy CS13 (Design Fundamentals), and improve air quality in accordance with saved 
Local Plan policy SDP13. To mitigate against the absence of soft landscaping around 
this building.  

Additional Conditions

32. EXTRACT VENTILATION (PRE-COMMENCEMENT)
Unless otherwise agreed in writing, the refuse storage area within the basement shall 
be served by mechanical extract ventilation. No development shall take place 
(excluding site set up and demolition, archaeology, site investigations, services and 
diversions) until a written scheme for the control of noise, fumes and odours from 
extractor fans within the basement refuse store and other equipment have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The development 
shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and findings before the 
development first comes into occupation and shall be retained thereafter.

REASON: To protect prevent noise and odour nuisance to occupiers.

59. PLANNING APPLICATION - 18/02235/FUL - 64A WHITES ROAD 
The Panel considered the report of the Service Lead, Planning, Infrastructure and 
Development recommending that conditional planning permission be granted in respect 
of an application for a proposed development at the above address.

Proposed development: Change of use from a dwelling house (class C3) to a house in 
multiple occupation (HMO, class C4) - Retrospective

Martin Duggan (local resident objecting), and Anna Easton (representing the applicant), 
were present and with the consent of the Chair, addressed the meeting.

The presenting officer amended his report by deleting Condition 1 of the report and 
amending the wording of Condition 4, as set out below. 

Page 3



- 65 -

The Panel then considered the recommendation to grant conditional planning 
permission. Upon being put to the vote the recommendation was carried.

RECORDED VOTE to grant planning permission 
FOR: Councillors Coombs, Mitchell, Murphy and Savage 
AGAINST: Councillors B Harris, L Harris and Wilkinson 

RESOLVED that planning permission be approved subject to the conditions set out 
within the report and any additional or amended conditions set out below:

Amended Condition 

CONDITION 4 – AMENDED (CONDITION 3 ON THE NOTICE)
Parking, landscaping, boundary treatment & bins (Time limited)
Within 3 months of the date of this decision notice, the layout and surfacing of the 
parking and access, the landscaping, bin storage and boundary treatment shall be 
provided in accordance with drawing no. WR005B as approved under application 
17/01780/DIS for the discharge of condition 3 (landscaping) and shall thereafter be 
retained and maintained as approved. Unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning 
Authority, except for collection days only, no refuse bins shall remain outside the 
storage area.

REASON: To remedy the harm arising from the breach of planning under permission 
16/01779/FUL. To prevent obstruction to traffic in neighbouring roads and in the 
interests of highway safety. In the interests of residential amenity and visual amenity.

60. PLANNING APPLICATION - 18/02261/FUL - RIDGEMOUNT AVENUE 
The Panel considered the report of the Service Lead, Planning, Infrastructure and 
Development recommending that conditional planning permission be granted in respect 
of an application for a proposed development at the above address.

Conversion of ground floor garage to a gym not in accordance with 12/01697/FUL 
condition 6 (Domestic Ancillary Use) and provision of integral log store

Amanda Burnie and Graham Bartlett (local residents objecting), and Councillor B Harris 
(ward councillor objecting) were present and with the consent of the Chair, addressed 
the meeting.

The presenting officer reported that conditions 2 and 5 need to be amended as per the 
wording set out below.

The Panel then considered the recommendation to grant conditional planning 
permission. Upon being put to the vote the recommendation was carried.

RECORDED VOTE to grant planning permission 
FOR: Councillors Coombs, L Harris, Mitchell, Murphy and Savage
AGAINST: Councillor Wilkinson 

RESOLVED that planning permission be approved subject to the conditions set out 
within the report and any amended conditions set out below:

Page 4



- 66 -

Amended Conditions 

Condition 2 APPROVAL CONDITION - No other windows or doors other than approved 
[Performance Condition]

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 as amended (or any order amending, revoking or re-enacting 
that Order), no windows, doors or other openings including roof windows or dormer 
windows other than those expressly authorised by this permission shall be inserted in 
the development hereby permitted without the prior written consent of the Local 
Planning Authority.

REASON: To protect the amenities of the adjoining residential properties

Condition 5 Approved Plans

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved plans, including the installation and retention of the garage doors to the log 
store, listed in the schedule attached below, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority. The garage doors to the log store shall be installed prior to 
the ground floor space being used for any purpose other than the parking of cars. 

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

NOTE Councillor B Harris declared an interest in the item and withdrew to address the 
Panel 

61. PLANNING APPLICATION - 18/02188/FUL - 194 BASSETT GREEN ROAD 
The Panel considered the report of the Service Lead, Planning, Infrastructure and 
Development recommending that conditional planning permission be granted in respect 
of an application for a proposed development at the above address.

Erection of a rear conservatory (resubmission of planning permission ref: 
18/01372/FUL).

Dave Denholm (local resident objecting), and Graham Barker (agent), were present and 
with the consent of the Chair, addressed the meeting.

The presenting officer reported that a condition for the roof lantern would be required, 
as set out below.  The Panel reviewed what would be permissible to construct using 
permitted development rights.  The Panel then voted on and agreed to add an 
additional condition seeking obscured glass of the windows and doors within the angled 
side elevations, as set out below. 

The Panel then considered the recommendation to grant conditional planning 
permission. Upon being put to the vote the recommendation was carried.

RECORDED VOTE to grant planning permission 
FOR: Councillors Coombs, B Harris, L Harris, Mitchell, Murphy

and Savage
AGAINST: Councillor Wilkinson

Page 5



- 67 -

RESOLVED that planning permission be approved subject to the conditions set out 
within the report and any additional or amended conditions set out below:

Additional Conditions

Prior to its installation on the roof of the extension hereby approved, full details of the 
design and materials of the roof lantern, including its footprint on the roof and its height, 
shall be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. The lantern shall then be 
installed in accordance with the approved plans.

REASON. In the interests of visual amenity and the character of the building.

Further additional condition added: The top two rows of glazing of the windows and 
doors within the angled side elevations  of the extension hereby approved shall be 
installed  using  obscure glazing to a minimum level 3 obscurity and thereafter 
permanently retained in that condition.

REASON. To protect the neighbours from perceived overlooking of their rear garden 
areas.

Page 6



DECISION-MAKER: PLANNING RIGHTS OF WAY PANEL
SUBJECT: The application of a felling licence and application to work 

on trees subject to a tree preservation order at Marlhill 
Copse

DATE OF DECISION: 12th March 2019
REPORT OF: HEAD OF TRANSACTIONS AND UNIVERSAL 

SERVICES
CONTACT DETAILS

AUTHOR: Name: Gary Claydon-Bone Tel: 023 8083 3005
E-mail: Gary.claydon-bone@southampton.gov.uk

Director Name: Mitch Sanders Tel: 023 8083 3005
E-mail: Mitch.sanders@southampton.gov.uk

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
None

BRIEF SUMMARY
To consider a response from Southampton City Council to the Forestry Commission in 
relation to the issuing of a felling licence to Southampton International Airport Limited 
for felling works at Marlhill Copse 
To consider the approval of content within tree work application 19/00006/TPO. The 
work detailed is required in order to carry out the work within the felling licence 
application.
RECOMMENDATIONS:

(i) To grant consent to the work as detailed within tree work application 
19/00006/TPO for facilitation work at Marlhill Copse with a condition 
attached for a replacement tree and that it only be completed once a 
felling licence is received.

(ii) To offer no objection to the Forestry Commission over the issuing of 
a felling licence for Southampton Airport to carry out the works at 
Marlhill Copse.

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS
1. Under S15 (1)(a) of The Forestry Act 1967, the Forestry Commission have 

given notice to Southampton City Council in relation to the issuing of a felling 
licence for Southampton International Airport Limited to carry out felling work 
at Marlhill Copse.
Southampton City Council have been requested to give comments on the 
application and to whether or not it wishes to offer an objection.

2. Although the tree officers have the delegated authority to determine a tree 
work application for work on trees subject to a tree preservation order. It is 
considered appropriate to have application 19/00006/TPO considered at the 
same time as the felling licence as the two are intrinsically linked.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED
Page 7

Agenda Item 5



3. To object to the Forestry Commission in relation to the issuing of a felling 
licence to Southampton International Airport Limited to carry out felling at 
Marlhill Copse.
It is the officer’s opinion that Southampton International Airport Limited have a 
legal requirement to manage obstacles that impinge into the flight safety 
surfaces, therefore the officer feels that it is inappropriate to disregard the 
legal requirement to carry out the work.

4. The tree work application 19/00006/TPO is required to facilitate access to the 
site for vehicles required to conduct the work that is subject of the felling 
licence. 
Refusing this application may result in the main felling work not being able to 
be completed safely and/or the material not being able to be removed from 
site. 

DETAIL (Including consultation carried out)
5 Marlhill Copse is protected by The Southampton (Townhill Park – Cutbush 

Lane) Tree Preservation Order 1956 and has a Woodland classification which 
covers all trees. (See Appendix 1)

6 30/08/2018 – Southampton International Airport Limited (SIAL) purchase 
Marlhill Copse.

7 October 2018 – SIAL make contact with Southampton City Council (SCC) to 
discuss the tree preservation order (TPO) on the site and the requirement to 
carry out work to fell 26 trees. This work was identified and being a 
requirement is to ensure that SIAL are compliant with their obstacle 
management strategy (See appendix 2). This is a requirement under the 
International Civil Aviation Organisation regulations (ICAO) The European 
Aviation Safety Agency regulations (EASA) and the Civil Aviation Act (CAA) 
(See Appendix 3)

8 During discussions with SIAL it became apparent that there would be a 
requirement for a felling licence to be applied for due to the size of the 
individual trees and the amount of timber to be extracted from site. Therefore 
SIAL were advised to make contact with the Forestry Commission (FC) to 
discuss the requirement for a felling licence.

9 SIAL were advised that if the work to fell the trees is to be completed under a 
requirement for Aviation Safety, and that if this is backed by an Act of 
Parliament, then there is no requirement to seek the local authorities consent 
before carrying out the works on the trees subject to the TPO. This is 
pursuant to regulation 14 (a)(ii) of The Town & country (Tree 
preservation)(England) Regulations 2017. (See appendix 4)

10 Site meetings were arranged by SIAL to walk through the site and to be able 
to discuss any relevant issues relating to tree protection, felling licences, 
ecology and future woodland management.

11 30.10.18 – The officer sent an email to relevant councillors and department 
heads to provide an update on the situation at Marlhill Copse. Attached to this 
email was a PowerPoint presentation from SIAL giving the legislation behind 
the obstacle limitation surfaces and the requirement in law to take appropriate 
action to mitigate the risk associated with the penetration of the obstacle 
limitation surfaces, which is included with this report as appendix 3.

Page 8



12 11.01.19 - An application was received from SIAL, reference number 
19/00006/TPO (See appendix 6) in which the applicant has applied to carry 
out work to facilitate access to the site in order to be able to carry out the 
main felling, as detailed in the felling application to FC. The work in the 
application is for a crown lift of a number of trees over the access path to 
provide a 3.5 to 4m clearance aboveground level and the felling of a single 
leaning and suppressed London Plane.

13 SIAL held a public open day on the 26th of January at The Gregg School. This 
was to discuss concerns that the public may have and to give clear 
information as to why the work is required. The officer attended this meeting 
as a representative of SCC tree team. The meeting received a good turn out 
from the public and many issues were discussed and residents informed.

14 A site visit has been undertaken and it is the officer’s opinion that the crown 
lifting will have very little impact to the visual amenity to the local street scene, 
therefore this work should be permitted. The London Plane tree is a 
suppressed tree and is predominantly beneath the canopy of a much larger 
and prominent London Plane. The loss of the tree would not have a significant 
impact to the visual amenity to the local street scene. As the more prominent 
tree is of the same species, it is considered that the loss of the suppressed 
tree will go largely unnoticed form the public street. Arboriculturally, the tree is 
also of poor form and will continue to grow outward from the dominant canopy 
above. This will increase the end weight of the canopy which will apply 
additional stress to the stem. It is consider that the removal of the tree is not 
objectionable due to its poor form and the question over its suitability for long 
term safe retention.

15 It is the officer’s opinion that the whole application should be approved with a 
condition that seeks a replacement tree for the single felling of the London 
Plane. A further condition would be applied that stated that the work can only 
be completed once a valid felling licence has been received. 

16 The Forestry Commission (FC) have made contact with SCC and have 
requested comments from SCC in relation to the issuing of a Felling Licence 
to SIAL for the felling of the trees at Marlhill Copse.

17 It’s the officer’s recommendation that SCC offer no objection to the issuing of 
the felling licence to SIAL based on the following reasons.

18 The work that is subject of the felling licence is to be completed so that SIAL 
can be compliant with international & European regulations and also the UK 
legislation of the Civil Aviation Act.

19 If SCC were to offer an objection to the issue of the felling licence, then 
under S(2)(a)(a) of the Forestry Act 1967, the Forestry Commission shall not 
deal with the application but shall transfer it to the Minister, and the matter 
will be dealt with under the Town & Country Planning Act as if it were an 
application for consent under the TPO to fell the trees.

20 It is worth noting that in 2003, SCC refused the felling of a Pine tree in 
Midanbury Lane in relation to airport safety. The decision was made to refuse 
the felling and the matter was referred to the Secretary of State to determine.

21 The outcome of this case was that Southampton City Council’s refusal over 
the tree felling was overruled by the Secretary of State and the tree was 
subsequently felled in compliance with aviation safety

Page 9



22 It is the thoughts of the City Councils tree team that this tree felling is required 
for aviation safety, which is the same reason for the felling at Midanbury Lane 
in 2003. As such, to object to the issue of this felling licence and refer the 
matter to the Minister, has a high probability in the end result being the same 
response from the Secretary of State, as in the Midanbury Lane case of 2003.

23 A further point that has been highlighted by objectors to the proposal is that 
previous works at Marlhill Copse had been objected to by the tree officer’s in 
post at the time. There were two cases cited. One was in 1983 and the other 
in 2003. Both cases were presented to councillors to vote on the proposal.

24 In the 1983 case, there was an application submitted to fell trees at Marlhill 
Copse by Air UK-Ltd.

25 It was the recommendation of the tree officer in post at the time of the 
meeting that the City Council should refuse the application.

26 When looking through the history of the case, the officer is in agreement with 
the tree officer’s recommendation of refusal of the 1983 application. 

27 Based on the information supplied in a letter from the Civil Aviation Authority, 
dated 7th July 1983, (See appendix 7) it states on paragraph 4 that the trees 
at Marlhill Copse do not penetrate the approach surfaces slope. This clear 
statement gives support to the tree officer’s recommendation in 1983 to 
refuse the felling of the trees in Marlhill Copse as the work was not 
considered to be in relation to aircraft safety. 

28 There was a second case for tree felling at Marlhill Copse and this was 
presented to the Planning & Rights of Way panel (PROW) on the 11th of 
March 2003.

29 It is important to know that the felling of the trees at Marlhill Copse in 2003 
was also cited to be for aviation safety and obstacle management.

30 In the conclusion of the PROW report of the 11th of March 2003 (See 
appendix 8), the officer has stated that BAA have not been able to provide 
evidence to show that they have statutory undertaker’s rights to remove the 
trees outside of their control of their operational land.

31 Further comments were given regarding the significant impact to the local 
environment and its enjoyment by the public.

32 The officer is in support of the comments made in the March 2003 PROW 
report in relation to the felling of the trees at Marlhill Copse as the officer also 
agrees that the loss of the trees would have a significant impact to the local 
environment and its enjoyment by the public.

33 The officer is also in support of the comments made at the March 2003 
PROW report in relation to BAA not being able to provide evidence to show 
that they have statutory undertaker’s rights to remove the trees outside of 
their control of their operational land. It is the officer’s opinion that Marlhill 
Copse, now being in the ownership of SIAL, may still not be regarded as 
‘Operational’ land and therefore still may not qualify as being an exemption in 
the TPO legislation for a statutory undertaker.

34 If a situation occurred in the future where this was to be tested, the officer 
would wish to be satisfied that the land can properly be considered as 
‘operational land’ and if this also extends to airspace.

Page 10



35 The officer at the time of the March 2003 PROW panel had highlighted that a 
felling licence would be required from the Forestry Commission to carry out 
the felling at Marlhill Copse. It is the opinion of this officer that this is still the 
situation and therefore they are in support of this comment from the 2003 
PROW report.

36 It is the officers understanding that the decision on the felling of the trees at 
Marlhill Copse at the March 11th 2003 PROW panel, be deferred to a later 
date as legal interpretation of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 was 
required. The matter was deferred to the 8th of July 2003 PROW meeting.

37 The report submitted for consideration at the 8th of July 2003 PROW meeting 
(See appendix 9) gives details in section 3.1 that the matter regarding the 
felling of trees at Marlhill Copse is to be decided by the Forestry Commission 
under S9 of the Forestry Act 1967.  

38 Due to this, section 3.3 of the same report gives guidance to the panel that 
the felling of the trees at Marlhill Copse cannot be considered by the Council 
and therefore was not voted upon.

39 It is the officers understanding that the felling licence application to the 
forestry Commission was later withdrawn and therefore was never 
determined.

40 The officer considers that there are differences between the 2003 applications 
and the current case. The differences are as follows.

41 There is no tree work application for the main felling work to be considered 
under the Town & Country Planning Act.  The main felling work is being 
applied for via a felling licence from the FC.

42 The City Council are not the deciding body in this case. The City Council are 
a consultee within the felling licence process and have been requested to 
pass comments and if it intends to offer an objection over the issuing of the 
licence.

43 The officer is in agreement with the opinion of the tree officer in 2003 that the 
work should not be carried out by the airport under the TPO exemption as a 
statutory undertaker. It is still the opinion of the officer that Marlhill Copse is 
not regarded as ‘Operational land’, which is a requirement within the statutory 
undertaker’s exemption.

44 It is the officer’s opinion that the work will have a significant impact to the local 
area, however, the officer also has to consider all merits of the requirement 
for the felling before being able to pass an informed decision to the FC in 
relation to the issuing of a felling licence.

45 The officer has considered all information supplied by SIAL that has been 
given to demonstrate that there is a legal requirement to carry out the felling 
of the trees as part of obstacle management strategy and that this is a 
requirement by law.

46 It is the officer’s opinion that the legal requirement for SIAL to carry out the 
main felling is being requested due to legislation. Therefore the officer has to 
accept that the legislation has to give guidance on whether or not to object to 
the felling licence. The officer has to accept that the legislation is the 
overriding justification for felling and therefore it is recommended that the City 

Page 11



Council should not object to the felling licence application, or to the approval 
of application 19/00006/TPO.

47 If application 19/00006/TPO is approved, it will be on the condition that the 
work is only to be completed once the applicant has received a felling licence 
approval. 

48 As of the 4th of March, there were 31 objections received in relation to the 
application 19/00006/TPO. However there are many comments on this 
application that are in relation to the main work covered by the felling licence 
application. I have therefore informed the Forestry Commission of these 
comments so they are aware of the public opinion. Some of the comments 
posted have not made it clear as to what the objection is regarding as where 
the objector raises concern over the crown lifting and single felling, or the 
work within the felling licence. In total, the officer reviewed the objections and 
considered that 6 related to the TPO application. 13 were in relation to the 
felling licence and the remaining 12 were not clear as to whether the 
comments related to the 19/00006/TPO or the felling licence. 

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
Capital/Revenue 
49 Cost will be those associated with the administration of confirming the Order 

and administration of any subsequent applications made under the Order.
Property/Other
50 Compensation may be sought in respect of loss or damage caused or 

incurred in consequence of the refusal of any consent required under the TPO 
or of the grant of such consent which is subject to condition. However, no 
compensation will be payable for any loss of development or other value of 
the land, neither will it be payable for any loss or damage which was not 
reasonably foreseeable.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report: 
51 Under the tree preservation order legislation, the local authority have the legal 

duty to determine a valid application within 8 weeks from registration of the 
application. 

52 Under Section 15(1)(a) of the Forestry Act 1967, Southampton City Council 
are a consultee within the felling licence process. We have formally been 
requested to provide comments on the application. In the event the council 
object to the felling licence, the matter will be dealt with under the Town & 
Country Planning Act by the Minister as if it were an application for consent 
under the TPO to fell the trees and the TPO regulations and the same 
compensation rules would apply.

Other Legal Implications: 
53

RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS
54 NONE

Page 12



POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS
55 NONE

KEY DECISION? Yes/No
WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED:

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION

Appendices 
1.
2.
Documents In Members’ Rooms
1. Copy of the tree preservation order
2. Southampton International Airport Aerodrome Safeguarding Obstacle 

Management Strategy
3. Southampton International Airport Aerodrome Safeguarding Obstacle 

Management Strategy
4. The Town & Country Planning (Tree preservation)(England) Regulations 2012
5. Application 19/00006/TPO
6. Letter from Civil Aviation Authority July 1983
7. Report and minutes from Planning & Rights of Way panel March 2003
8. Report and minutes from Planning & Rights of Way panel July 2003
Equality Impact Assessment 
Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality and
Safety Impact Assessment (ESIA) to be carried out.

No

Data Protection Impact Assessment
Do the implications/subject of the report require a Data Protection  
Impact Assessment (DPIA) to be carried out.  

No

Other Background Documents
Other Background documents available for inspection at:
Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to 

Information Procedure Rules / 
Schedule 12A allowing document to 
be Exempt/Confidential (if applicable)

1.
2.

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 15

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



  

 
 

Southampton International Airport 
Aerodrome Safeguarding 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Obstacle Management Strategy 

Marlhill Copse 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 31

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 2



  

Contents 
 
Introduction to Safeguarding ............................................................................................................. 3 

Obstacle Limitation Surfaces ............................................................................................................. 4 

Take Off Climb Surface .................................................................................................................. 5 

Approach Surface .......................................................................................................................... 5 

Transitional Surface ....................................................................................................................... 6 

Type A Surface/Chart ..................................................................................................................... 6 

Further surfaces and OLS information ............................................................................................ 6 

Marlhill Copse ................................................................................................................................... 7 

Obstacle Limitation Surface Assessment ........................................................................................ 8 

Type A Chart Assessment ............................................................................................................. 13 

Obstacle Management .................................................................................................................... 14 

Legislation - ICAO......................................................................................................................... 14 

Legislation - EASA ........................................................................................................................ 14 

Legislation – Civil Aviation Act 1982 ............................................................................................. 14 

Work supporting compliance with regulation .............................................................................. 15 

Appendix A ...................................................................................................................................... 16 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This document contains confidential information. It should not be shown to other parties without 
consent from Southampton International Airport.  

 
 
 

Page 32



  

Introduction to Safeguarding 
 

Aerodrome safeguarding ensures the safety of aircraft when in the vicinity of an aerodrome by 
controlling potentially hazardous development and activity around it. 

There are three main types of aerodrome safeguarding; physical safeguarding which protects a 
set of flight safety surfaces up to a 30km radius around the airfield, technical safeguarding which 
protects aircraft navigational equipment from any interference or disruption, and wildlife 
management which prevents any development areas from creating an environment attractive 
to birds. 
 
Aerodrome Safeguarding is a legal requirement and is required under ICAO (International Civil 
Aviation Organisation) Regulations, EASA (European Aviation Safety Agency) Regulations, and 
the Civil Aviation Act.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 33



  

Obstacle Limitation Surfaces 
 
Obstacle Limitation Surfaces (OLS) represent the lower limit of the blocks of protected airspace 

around an aerodrome. They are designed to protect airborne aircraft to ensure their flight paths 
remain obstacle free in the interests of air safety. 
 
The OLS at Southampton International Airport extend out to a maximum distance of 30km from 
the Aerodrome Reference Point (ARP).  
 
Obstacle Limitation Surfaces follow an internationally agreed specification that is outlined in the 
following documents: 
 

- European Aviation Safety Agency (EASA) ‘Certification Specifications & Guidance Material for 
Aerodrome Design CS‐ADR‐ DSN, Book One Chapters H & J and Book Two Chapters H & J  

- Civil Aviation Authority Publication CAP168 ‘Licensing of Aerodromes’  
 
 

 
Example of the Obstacle Limitation Surfaces at Southampton Airport overlaid on Google Earth 

 
 
For the purpose of this document, the surfaces directly related to the Marlhill Tree works have been 
summarised.  
 
 
 
 

Page 34

https://www.easa.europa.eu/document-library/certification-specifications/cs-adr-dsn-issue-4
https://www.easa.europa.eu/document-library/certification-specifications/cs-adr-dsn-issue-4
http://publicapps.caa.co.uk/modalapplication.aspx?appid=11&mode=detail&id=6114


  

Take Off Climb Surface 
 
The purpose of the take-off climb surface is to protect an aircraft on take-off and during climb-out. 
 
The specifications for this surface vary depending on the specification/code number of the runway.  
 
Runway 20 at Southampton Airport is a code 3 runway and Table J-1. Dimensions and slopes of 
obstacle limitation surfaces, within CS-ADR-DSN/4 Book 1 specifies the following details for the Take-
off climb surface: 
 
 

Code Number 3 

Length of Inner edge 180m 

Distance of inner edge from end of take-off run 60m 

Divergence (each side) 12.5% 

Final Width 1800m  

Length 15000m  

Slope  2% (1:50) 

 
 

Approach Surface 
 
EASA Guidance explains: The purpose of the approach surface is to protect an aircraft during the final 
approach to the runway by defining the area that should be kept free from obstacles to protect an 
aeroplane in the final phase of the approach-to-land manoeuvre. 
 
The specifications for this surface vary depending on the characteristics of the runway.  
 
Runway 20 at Southampton Airport is a Category 1 Precison Approach Code 3 runway.  
Table J-1. Dimensions and slopes of obstacle limitation surfaces, within CS-ADR-DSN/4 Book 1 
specifies the follow details for the approach surface: 
 

 Precision 
instrucment 
approach 
runway  

Code 3 or 4 

Distance before threshold 60m 

Divergence each side 15% 

Length of first section 3000m  

Slope of first section 2% (1:50) 

Length of second section 3600m  

Slope of second section 2.5% (1:40) 

Length of horizontal section 8400m 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 35



  

 

Transitional Surface  
 
A transitional surface is a complex surface sloping up to from the side of the runway strip and from 
part of the side of the approach surface. The slope of the transitional surface is measured in the 
vertical plane above the horizontal, and normal to, the centreline of the runway.  
 
Southampton Airport has a code 3 precision approach runway and therefore as per the EASA 
regulations the transitional slope is 14.4% (1:7).  
 
 

Type A Surface/Chart 
 
The Type A chart provides data necessary to enable the aircraft operator to comply with the 
operating limitations of ICAO Annex 6 - Operation of Aircraft. The Type A Chart requires obstacles 
above 1.2% to be recorded for an ongoing monitoring purposes and these obstacles are required to 
be managed.  
 
 
 
 

Further surfaces and OLS information 
 
It is important to note that there are further surfaces that are associated with this site however the 
above are the most onerous and applicable to the Marlhill Tree works.  
 
 
For the full information about how the surfaces are determined, please refer to the full CS-ADR-DSN 
— BOOK 1 CHAPTER J — OBSTACLE LIMITATION REQUIREMENTS document alongside the 
dimensions provided in appendix A.  
 
 
It is also important to note that as outlined in CAP 168 and 738 the aerodrome is required to 
safeguard against future operations and following the announcement of the Masterplan the airport 
will be revising its safeguarded surfaces to reflect the planned changes. For the purposes of the 
assessment in this document, the current safeguarded surfaces have been used.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 36



  

Marlhill Copse 
 
Marhill Copse is located immediately south of Southampton Airport’s runway a critical location with 
regards to Approach and Take-off climb. To understand the obstacle environment within the Copse, 
a specific LiDAR survey of the trees was undertaken: 
 

 
Obstacle Limitation Surfaces over Marlhill Copse. 

 
Outcome of the Tree Survey Work overlaid on Google Earth 

 

Page 37



  

Obstacle Limitation Surface Assessment 
 
Using the data generated by the site specific survey of the area, the obstacles have been assessed 
against the airport’s Obstacle Limitation Surfaces. 
 
The TOCS is the most onerous surface OLS surface within the airspace around Marlhill Copse and 
therefore the following assessment has been undertaken based on obstacle penetrations of the 
TOCS: 
 

Obstacle 
Identifier 

Description Pen (m) Easting Northing Penetrates 
Surface 

10041 TREE 12.03 444591.6 115336.8 Yes 

10201 TREE 9.19 444739.9 115408.9 Yes 

10260 TREE 10.08 444629 115355 Yes 

10261 TREE 13.65 444632 115357.7 Yes 

10262 TREE 10.5 444637.5 115360.4 Yes 

10263 TREE 9.23 444642 115363.7 Yes 

10318 TREE 10.03 444753.6 115405.5 Yes 

10326 TREE 8.11 444786.7 115417.5 Yes 

10327 TREE 9.55 444792.1 115410.1 Yes 

10328 TREE 8.63 444785 115404.5 Yes 

10333 TREE 16.75 444765.1 115388.5 Yes 

10334 TREE 7.76 444778.8 115393.3 Yes 

10348 TREE 8.7 444804.2 115412.8 Yes 

10352 TREE 9.64 444815.6 115413.7 Yes 

10353 TREE 8.51 444811.1 115416.9 Yes 

10355 TREE 7.68 444817.8 115425.2 Yes 

10356 TREE 8.82 444821.6 115421.1 Yes 

10357 TREE 10.1 444823.4 115415.9 Yes 

10359 TREE 7.79 444827.6 115400.5 Yes 

10360 TREE 7.95 444829 115408.6 Yes 

10361 TREE 10.15 444833.1 115415.3 Yes 

10362 TREE 8.47 444836.3 115421.7 Yes 

10363 TREE 8.89 444828.8 115422 Yes 

10365 TREE 16.38 444824.5 115433.3 Yes 

10375 TREE 11.67 444854.1 115437.1 Yes 

10381 TREE 10.38 444882.9 115430.9 Yes 

10382 TREE 9.98 444890.3 115434.7 Yes 

10383 TREE 7.34 444874.7 115423.8 Yes 

10385 TREE 7.18 444870.2 115418.5 Yes 

10386 TREE 8.66 444863.2 115413.5 Yes 

10387 TREE 8.34 444855.3 115416.9 Yes 

10388 TREE 7.26 444852.3 115411.9 Yes 

10389 TREE 8.96 444847.2 115418.1 Yes 

10390 TREE 9.57 444842.2 115417.7 Yes 

10391 TREE 9.13 444842.6 115411.2 Yes 

Page 38



  

Obstacle 
Identifier 

Description Pen (m) Easting Northing Penetrates 
Surface 

10392 TREE 9.65 444836.8 115406.4 Yes 

10393 TREE 9.02 444833.7 115408.5 Yes 

10394 TREE 8.93 444831.5 115404.8 Yes 

10395 TREE 10.49 444832.7 115400.9 Yes 

10396 TREE 10.02 444838 115400.2 Yes 

10397 TREE 7.68 444841.4 115403.6 Yes 

10398 TREE 17.86 444845.2 115401 Yes 

10399 TREE 15.82 444846.6 115404.2 Yes 

10400 TREE 12.45 444853.1 115403.6 Yes 

10401 TREE 12.45 444847.8 115396.5 Yes 

10402 TREE 11.74 444851.1 115392.2 Yes 

10403 TREE 9.58 444857.8 115395.8 Yes 

10404 TREE 11.26 444866.4 115404.6 Yes 

10405 TREE 10.13 444871.2 115411.6 Yes 

10406 TREE 10.23 444874.1 115405.7 Yes 

10407 TREE 11.08 444872.7 115399.5 Yes 

10408 TREE 11.75 444864.8 115396.7 Yes 

10409 TREE 14.18 444860 115393 Yes 

10410 TREE 14.52 444861.3 115390.3 Yes 

10411 TREE 18.47 444872.3 115386.2 Yes 

10412 TREE 17.78 444879.2 115395.2 Yes 

10413 TREE 14.16 444878.5 115401.3 Yes 

10414 TREE 8.05 444881.1 115408.2 Yes 

10415 TREE 12.22 444883.1 115404.9 Yes 

10416 TREE 10.8 444886.9 115411 Yes 

10417 TREE 9.28 444882.9 115413.9 Yes 

10418 TREE 9.19 444878.2 115411.1 Yes 

10419 TREE 8.12 444876.8 115416.6 Yes 

10420 TREE 11.16 444883.2 115421.1 Yes 

10421 TREE 8.41 444891.7 115423.3 Yes 

10422 TREE 10.98 444893.7 115414.5 Yes 

10423 TREE 11.82 444903.1 115425.2 Yes 

10424 TREE 12.23 444907.1 115435 Yes 

10425 TREE 16.78 444891.4 115398.4 Yes 

10426 TREE 20.53 444887.9 115383.6 Yes 

10427 TREE 11.38 444901.9 115380.7 Yes 

10428 TREE 10.31 444902.5 115387.7 Yes 

10429 TREE 8.66 444902.4 115392 Yes 

10430 TREE 9.4 444907.9 115401.7 Yes 

10431 TREE 9.11 444923.2 115417.8 Yes 

10432 TREE 8.37 444912.9 115419.7 Yes 

10435 TREE 11.69 444914 115428.2 Yes 

11111 TREE 11.85 444878.9 115563.5 Yes 

Page 39



  

Obstacle 
Identifier 

Description Pen (m) Easting Northing Penetrates 
Surface 

11128 TREE 12.91 444896.5 115566.3 Yes 

12118 TREE 9.04 444930.4 115423.6 Yes 

12121 TREE 11.37 444917.7 115406.6 Yes 

12122 TREE 7.21 444920.9 115397.8 Yes 

12123 TREE 12.32 444913.3 115392.9 Yes 

12124 TREE 10.9 444914.7 115383 Yes 

12125 TREE 16.88 444907.7 115375.1 Yes 

12126 TREE 13.14 444914.7 115370.9 Yes 

12130 TREE 9.37 444921.1 115389.4 Yes 

12620 TREE 5.07 444933.2 115635.5 Yes 

12728 TREE 4.27 444962.8 115698.3 Yes 

12801 TREE 5.69 444799.6 115618.2 Yes 

12802 TREE 6.5 444805.2 115615.5 Yes 

12803 TREE 6.09 444803.1 115617.6 Yes 

12804 TREE 5.73 444801.4 115615.2 Yes 

12808 TREE 6.82 444810.6 115609.6 Yes 

12810 TREE 5.69 444813.7 115613.7 Yes 

12815 TREE 6.31 444809 115624.2 Yes 

12827 TREE 5.24 444817.6 115613.6 Yes 

12828 TREE 5.45 444820.9 115612.2 Yes 

12855 TREE 6.53 444820 115623.8 Yes 

12856 TREE 5.73 444817.9 115627.2 Yes 

12859 TREE 5.54 444822.3 115632.6 Yes 

12860 TREE 5.99 444822.6 115628.4 Yes 

12861 TREE 5.94 444824.8 115625.1 Yes 

12863 TREE 5.47 444831.5 115629 Yes 

12885 TREE 5.98 444843.3 115625 Yes 

12886 TREE 5.93 444840.1 115628.3 Yes 

12931 TREE 5.4 444903.6 115644.1 Yes 

12932 TREE 5.02 444897.1 115647.1 Yes 

12943 TREE 5.22 444905.9 115648.4 Yes 

12949 TREE 6.11 444886.8 115635.4 Yes 

12963 TREE 5.13 444847.7 115636 Yes 

12964 TREE 5.56 444844.4 115632 Yes 

12973 TREE 5.64 444829.3 115632.1 Yes 

12980 TREE 5.8 444815.5 115636.1 Yes 

12982 TREE 5.44 444811.4 115636.7 Yes 

13043 TREE 5.39 444878.4 115638.2 Yes 

13044 TREE 5.88 444879.5 115644.8 Yes 

13045 TREE 4.87 444883.1 115641.4 Yes 

13228 TREE 7.64 444787.9 115784.1 Yes 

13238 TREE 5.07 444766.1 115770.5 Yes 

13239 TREE 4.24 444762.1 115767.5 Yes 

Page 40



  

Obstacle 
Identifier 

Description Pen (m) Easting Northing Penetrates 
Surface 

13240 TREE 7.53 444768.4 115764.9 Yes 

13268 TREE 5.11 444818.1 115745.3 Yes 

13269 TREE 5.51 444812.6 115753.3 Yes 

13270 TREE 5.95 444820.1 115756.6 Yes 

13271 TREE 5.9 444811.7 115764.3 Yes 

13329 TREE 6.34 444822.8 115777.1 Yes 

13395 TREE 3.98 444833.5 115825.6 Yes 

13456 TREE 10.34 444829.7 115839 Yes 

13464 TREE 2.95 444813.9 115838.6 Yes 

13465 TREE 4.44 444817 115836.3 Yes 

13467 TREE 7.38 444821.8 115841.7 Yes 

13508 TREE 3.25 444787 115846.5 Yes 

13510 TREE 4.6 444784.9 115852.7 Yes 

13513 TREE 3.35 444802.1 115855 Yes 

13574 TREE 6.37 444783.5 115866.1 Yes 

13575 TREE 6.53 444783 115872.6 Yes 

13576 TREE 5.2 444788.2 115870.1 Yes 

13577 TREE 6.48 444786.4 115873.6 Yes 

13578 TREE 5.78 444790.4 115878.3 Yes 

13579 TREE 5.78 444784.9 115880.2 Yes 

13582 TREE 4.92 444792.9 115870 Yes 

13583 TREE 5.28 444795.1 115873.9 Yes 

13584 TREE 4.7 444795.5 115879 Yes 

13585 TREE 7.21 444799.1 115876 Yes 

13586 TREE 4.04 444800.6 115871.6 Yes 

13592 TREE 4.22 444809.1 115859 Yes 

13594 TREE 3.58 444812.9 115864.7 Yes 

13595 TREE 4.92 444818.7 115859.1 Yes 

13596 TREE 4.27 444818.6 115865.3 Yes 

13606 TREE 4.12 444805.7 115872.3 Yes 

13607 TREE 5.39 444830.9 115873.3 Yes 

13608 TREE 4.14 444833.4 115868.7 Yes 

13609 TREE 6.01 444831.6 115864.5 Yes 

13610 TREE 6.5 444837.9 115872.3 Yes 

13611 TREE 3.32 444846.3 115871 Yes 

13612 TREE 2.92 444842.1 115860.6 Yes 

13615 TREE 3.26 444855.6 115866.9 Yes 

13616 TREE 2.55 444864.1 115858.9 Yes 

13621 TREE 2.54 444875.8 115861.1 Yes 

13711 TREE 3.17 444833.8 115856.1 Yes 

13712 TREE 4.83 444824.7 115856.3 Yes 

13738 TREE 11.87 444550.5 115287 Yes 

13753 TREE 10.31 444528.3 115268.8 Yes 

Page 41



  

Obstacle 
Identifier 

Description Pen (m) Easting Northing Penetrates 
Surface 

13993 TREE 20.04 444908.1 115354.7 Yes 

13994 TREE 18.14 444908.7 115362.3 Yes 

13995 TREE 13.87 444901.3 115354.4 Yes 

13996 TREE 18.26 444894.6 115364.4 Yes 

13997 TREE 15.17 444888.7 115355.7 Yes 

13998 TREE 15.25 444885.2 115361.1 Yes 

13999 TREE 16.93 444879.7 115370.9 Yes 

14001 TREE 10.68 444879.9 115364.1 Yes 

14002 TREE 22.15 444864.2 115374.5 Yes 

14003 TREE 16.67 444876 115381.1 Yes 

14004 TREE 13.73 444864.4 115381.9 Yes 

14005 TREE 21.81 444854.6 115381.2 Yes 

14006 TREE 16.01 444853.6 115371.1 Yes 

14007 TREE 17.58 444846.7 115377.6 Yes 

14008 TREE 17.02 444843.3 115385.1 Yes 

14009 TREE 19.26 444850.4 115386.7 Yes 

14010 TREE 16.1 444834.5 115386.6 Yes 

14011 TREE 16.64 444836.7 115380.4 Yes 

14012 TREE 9.43 444847.5 115367.7 Yes 

14013 TREE 11.72 444842.5 115372.2 Yes 

14014 TREE 13.16 444838.2 115365.3 Yes 

14015 TREE 12.17 444835.5 115372.8 Yes 

14016 TREE 14.51 444829.8 115380 Yes 

14017 TREE 16.49 444827.1 115384.3 Yes 

14018 TREE 19.76 444815.7 115383.2 Yes 

14019 TREE 15.3 444815.9 115392.7 Yes 

14020 TREE 17.44 444830.6 115390.9 Yes 

14021 TREE 11.7 444831.1 115366.6 Yes 

14022 TREE 11.27 444824 115374.7 Yes 

14023 TREE 14.24 444814.1 115375.4 Yes 

14024 TREE 12.11 444807.1 115377.8 Yes 

14025 TREE 12.2 444807.9 115382.5 Yes 

14026 TREE 14.48 444809.2 115389.8 Yes 

14027 TREE 14.99 444810.7 115397.5 Yes 

14028 TREE 19.26 444797 115384.1 Yes 

14034 TREE 8.56 444777.6 115387.7 Yes 

14037 TREE 15.49 444757.1 115388.8 Yes 

14038 TREE 13.61 444751 115389.2 Yes 

14041 TREE 12.78 444748 115384.1 Yes 

14042 TREE 12 444740.7 115385.6 Yes 

14043 TREE 8.34 444741 115377.5 Yes 

14044 TREE 13.83 444869.5 115379.1 Yes 

14045 TREE 14.01 444836.5 115392.8 Yes 

Page 42



  

Obstacle 
Identifier 

Description Pen (m) Easting Northing Penetrates 
Surface 

14046 TREE 16.57 444858.9 115366.4 Yes 

14048 TREE 12.43 444842.4 115393.6 Yes 

14292 TREE 4.88 444971.9 115771.8 Yes 

14326 TREE 2.93 444949.4 115876.4 Yes 

14331 TREE 3.65 444951.5 115900.3 Yes 

14402 TREE 5.05 444910.9 115828.5 Yes 

14403 TREE 2.9 444919.7 115831.1 Yes 

14448 TREE 6.2 444700.1 115685.4 Yes 

14465 TREE 9.61 444788 115350.2 Yes 

14492 TREE 11.84 444872.1 115364.9 Yes 

14493 TREE 14.2 444866.4 115363.4 Yes 

14522 TREE 3.18 444924.9 115836.6 Yes 

 
 
 

Type A Chart Assessment 
 
Due to the Type A surface being more onerous than the TOCS, there are further penetrations to the 
above data when the Type A assessment is run.  
 
 
It is recognised that due to terrain, or a pre-existing obstacle environment in some aerodrome’s 
cases it may not be reasonably practicable to remove all obstacles. This is the case at Southampton 
when considering the penetration of the TOCS and the Type A. The airport however is required to 
survey, manage and reduce where possible, the obstacle environment within the airspace and 
further information around this is provided in the next sections of this document.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 43



  

Obstacle Management 
 

Legislation - ICAO 
 
Annex 4 & 6 (Aeronautical Charts) to the Convention on International Civil Aviation outlines 
standards and recommended practice for obstacle declaration, publication and management.  
 

The heights of obstacles around airports are of critical importance to aircraft operations. 
Information about these are given in detail on the Aerodrome Obstacle Charts — ICAO, Types 
A, B, and C. These charts are intended to assist aircraft operators in making the complex 
take-off mass, distance and performance calculations required, including those covering 
emergency situations such as engine failure during takeoff. Aerodrome obstacle charts show 
the runways in plan and profile, take-off flight path areas and the distances available for 
take-off run and accelerate-stop, taking obstacles into account; this data is provided for each 
runway which has significant obstacles in the take-off area. 

 
With reference to Southampton Airport, the data produced in the Type A charts is used by airline 
performance engineers to run a safety assessment for single engine failure situations when 
departing both runways at Southampton. This assessment then determines the regularity of 
operations of aeroplanes that can safely use either runway. This assessment is unique to the aircraft 
type being used by the individual airline, so any one airline may have different assessments against 
the same obstacle environment. In order to comply with this international standard the airport 
needs to publish these charts and must then follow up with a management plan in order to satisfy 
EASA Certification Specifications: 
 

Legislation - EASA 
 
Under the provisions of the EASA Commission Regulation 139/2014 Southampton Airport is required 
to manage all obstacles impacting on the safeguarded surfaces.  
 

2) ADR.OPS.B.075 Safeguarding of aerodromes  
(a) The aerodrome operator shall monitor on the aerodrome and its surroundings:  

(1) obstacle limitation and protection surfaces as established in accordance with the 
certification basis, and other surfaces and areas associated with the aerodrome, in 
order to take, within its competence, appropriate action to mitigate the risks 
associated with the penetration of those surfaces and areas;  

(b) The aerodrome operator shall have procedures in place for mitigating the risks 
associated with obstacles, developments and other activities within the monitored areas 
that could impact safe operations of aircraft operating at, to or from the aerodrome. 

 

Legislation – Civil Aviation Act 1982 
 
The civil aviation act is the primary legislation regulating aviation and there are two sections that 
relate to the Marlhill site: 
 
Section 46 Power to exercise control over land in interests of civil aviation. 

(1) The Secretary of State may, if he is satisfied that it is necessary to do so in order to secure 
the safe and efficient use for civil aviation purposes (including the testing of aircraft 
designed for civil aviation) of any land, structures, works or apparatus vested in a relevant 

Page 44



  

authority or which such an authority proposes to acquire or install, by order declare that any 
area of land specified in the order shall be subject to control by directions given in 
accordance with the provisions of this section; and in this Part of this Act that authority, in 
relation to the making of such an order, is referred to as the person in respect of whom the 
order is or, as the case may be, is to be made. 

(2) Where an order under subsection (1) above is in force, the Secretary of State may, in 
pursuance of any general or special authority given by the order, give directions— 

(b) for restricting the height of trees upon any land within the area, or for requiring any tree 
upon any such land to be cut down or reduced in height; 
Section 60 
 
 
 
 

Work supporting compliance with the legislation: Obstacle Management Strategy 
 
To support compliance with the above regulations and legislation, each year the airport undertakes 
an independent survey to ascertain the heights of all fixed and temporary obstacles within 
predetermined areas. The airport authority then produces a plan to address any infringements of 
these surfaces and allocate funds and resource to ensure compliance with the requirements. 
 
Since the new European legislation came into effect in 2014 Southampton Airport has undertaken 
annual tree management works in different areas including Frog’s Copse, land to the north of the 
airfield within the railyard, land to the south around the approach lights, and land close to Bitterne 
Park School.  
 
The work planned to be undertaken at Marlhill Copse continues with the Airport’s obstacle 
management strategy.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 45



  

Appendix A 
 
Southampton Airport Runway Dimensions 
 

 

P
age 46



ICAO
UN specialised agency

- Annex 4  & 6 (Aeronautical Charts) to the Convention on 

International Civil Aviation. 

- Standards and recommended practice for  obstacle 

declaration, publication and management

CAA
UK Statutory body

- Translates EASA/ICAO legislation and provides 

airports with guidance on how to implement 

- CAP 232 and 168

EASA
Commission Regulation (EU) No 

139/2014
Legal requirements for airport to hold 

certification under EU law

- Safeguarding of aerodromes and requirement 

to manage obstacles impacting on 

safeguarded surfaces

Civil Aviation Act 1982
Primary legislation regulating aviation

- Section 46 power to exercise control over land 

in interests of civil aviation.

- Section 60 states responsibility of CAA for 

being satisfied that a licensed aerodrome is 

safe for use by aircraft, having regard in 

particular to the physical characteristics of the 

aerodrome and its surroundings

Legal Framework for Obstacle 

Management at UK Airports

P
age 47

A
genda Item

 5
A

ppendix 3



ICAO
UN specialised agency

- Annex 4 & 6 (Aeronautical Charts) to the Convention on 

International Civil Aviation. 

- Standards and recommended practice for  obstacle 

declaration, publication and management

“The heights of obstacles around airports are of critical 

importance to aircraft operations. Information about these are 

given in detail on the Aerodrome Obstacle Charts — ICAO, 

Types A, B, and C. These charts are intended to assist aircraft 

operators in making the complex take-off mass, distance and 

performance calculations required, including those covering 

emergency situations such as engine failure during takeoff. 

Aerodrome obstacle charts show the runways in plan and 

profile, take-off flight path areas and the distances available for 

take-off run and accelerate-stop, taking obstacles into account; 

this data is provided for each runway which has significant 

obstacles in the take-off area.”

P
age 48



Reference to Southampton Airport

The data produced in the Type A charts is used by airline performance 

engineers to run a safety assessment for single engine failure situations 

when departing both runways at Southampton. This assessment then 

determines the regularity of operations of aeroplanes that can safely use 

either runway. This assessment is unique to the aircraft type being used by 

the individual airline, so any one airline may have different assessments 

against the same obstacle environment. In order to comply with this 

international standard the airport needs to publish these charts and must 

then follow up with a management plan in order to satisfy EASA 

Certification Specifications.

ICAO
UN specialised agency

- Annex 4 & 6 (Aeronautical Charts) to the Convention on 

International Civil Aviation. 

- Standards and recommended practice for  obstacle 

declaration, publication and management

P
age 49



EASA
Commission Regulation (EU) No 

139/2014
Legal requirements for airport to hold 

certification under EU law

- Safeguarding of aerodromes and 

requirement to manage obstacles impacting 

on safeguarded surfaces

2) ADR.OPS.B.075 Safeguarding of aerodromes 

(a) The aerodrome operator shall monitor on the aerodrome 

and its surroundings: 

(1) obstacle limitation and protection surfaces as 

established in accordance with the certification basis, 

and other surfaces and areas associated with the 

aerodrome, in order to take, within its competence, 

appropriate action to mitigate the risks associated with 

the penetration of those surfaces and areas; 

(b) The aerodrome operator shall have procedures in place for 

mitigating the risks associated with obstacles, developments 

and other activities within the monitored areas that could 

impact safe operations of aircraft operating at, to or from the 

aerodrome.

P
age 50



Reference to Southampton Airport

We have a statutory obligation to take appropriate action to 

mitigate the risks associated with the penetration of the 

obstacle limitation surfaces, so as to ensure no impact on the 

safe operations of aircraft now or in the future.

EASA
Commission Regulation (EU) No 

139/2014
Legal requirements for airport to hold 

certification under EU law

- Safeguarding of aerodromes and 

requirement to manage obstacles impacting 

on safeguarded surfaces

P
age 51



46 Power to exercise control over land in interests of civil aviation.

(1) The Secretary of State may, if he is satisfied that it is necessary to do so in order to secure the safe and 

efficient use for civil aviation purposes (including the testing of aircraft designed for civil aviation) of any 

land, structures, works or apparatus vested in a relevant authority or which such an authority proposes to 

acquire or install, by order declare that any area of land specified in the order shall be subject to control by 

directions given in accordance with the provisions of this section; and in this Part of this Act that authority, 

in relation to the making of such an order, is referred to as the person in respect of whom the order is or, as 

the case may be, is to be made.

(2) Where an order under subsection (1) above is in force, the Secretary of State may, in pursuance of any 

general or special authority given by the order, give directions—

(b) for restricting the height of trees upon any land within the area, or for requiring any tree upon any 

such land to be cut down or reduced in height;

Civil Aviation Act 1982
Primary legislation regulating aviation

- Section 46 power to exercise control over land 

in interests of civil aviation.

- Section 60 states responsibility of CAA for 

being satisfied that a licensed aerodrome is 

safe for use by aircraft, having regard in 

particular to the physical characteristics of the 

aerodrome and its surroundings

P
age 52



Reference to Southampton Airport

This means that in order to comply with the Act, any landowner with 

specified trees under the Direction may be required by the SoS to 

restrict, reduce or remove trees in order to “secure the safe and 

efficient use for civil aviation purposes” 

Civil Aviation Act 1982
Primary legislation regulating aviation

- Section 46 power to exercise control over land 

in interests of civil aviation.

- Section 60 states responsibility of CAA for 

being satisfied that a licensed aerodrome is 

safe for use by aircraft, having regard in 

particular to the physical characteristics of the 

aerodrome and its surroundings

P
age 53



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 55

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 4



This page is intentionally left blank



Application for tree works: works to trees subject to a tree preservation order (TPO) and/or notification of
proposed works to trees in a conservation area.

Town and Country Planning Act 1990

Publication of applications on planning authority websites.

Please note that the information provided on this application form and in supporting documents may be published on the Authority’s website. If
you require any further clarification, please contact the Authority’s planning department.

1. Trees Location

Number

Suffix

Property name

Address line 1

Address line 2

Address line 3

Town/city

Postcode

If the location is unclear or there is not a full postal address, describe as clearly
as possible where it is (for example, 'Land to rear of 12 to 18 High Street' or
'Woodland adjoining Elm Road')

Easting (x) 444986

Northing (y) 115448

Description

Woodland area - Marlhill Copse
(Accessible from River Walk)

2. Applicant Details

Title Mr

First name Daniel

Surname Townsend

Company name Southampton Airport Ltd

Address line 1 Wide Lane

Address line 2 Eastleigh

Address line 3

Planning Portal Reference: PP-07540417

Page 57

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 5



2. Applicant Details

Town/city Eastleigh

Country United Kingdom

Postcode SO18 2NL

Primary number

Secondary number

Fax number

Email address

Are you an agent acting on behalf of the applicant? Yes  No

3. Agent Details

No Agent details were submitted for this application

4. What Are You Applying For?

Are you seeking consent for works to tree(s) subject to a Tree Preservation Order? Yes  No

Are you wishing to carry out works to tree(s) in a conservation area? Yes  No

5. Identification of Tree(s) and Description of Works

Please identify the tree(s) and provide a full and clear specification of the works you want to carry out.

You might find it useful to contact an arborist (tree surgeon) for help with defining appropriate work.

Where trees are protected by a Tree Preservation Order, please number them as shown in the First Schedule to the Tree Preservation Order where this is
available. Use the same numbers on your sketch plan (see guidance notes).

Please provide the following information below

Tree species (and the number used on the sketch plan) and description of works.

Where trees are protected by a Tree Preservation Order you must also provide reasons for the work and, where trees are being felled, please give your
proposals for planting replacement trees (including quantity, species, position and size) or reasons for not wanting to replant.

e.g. Oak (T3) - fell because of excessive shading and low amenity value.  Replant with one standard ash in the same place.

G1 - Various species - Crown raise on the side of the pathway to 3.5 - 4 Meters above the ground level.
T1 - Plane Tree - Leaning Tree over the Footpath - Request a complete fell and removal

The reason for the above works is to create vehicle access to complete Marlhill Copse Lagre Tree Work Project. Which has been requested separately

6. Trees - Additional Information

For all trees

A sketch plan clearly showing the position of trees listed in the question 'Identification of Tree(s) and Description of Works' MUST be provided when applying for
works to trees covered by a Tree Preservation Order. A sketch plan is also advised when notifying the LPA of works to trees in a conservation area (see guidance
notes).

It would also be helpful if you provided details of any advice given on site by an LPA officer.

For works to trees covered by a TPO

Please note:If none of the proposed work involves trees covered by a TPO, please answer 'No' to the two questions below

Please indicate whether the reasons for carrying out the proposed works include any of the following. If so, your application MUST be accompanied by the
necessary evidence to support your proposals (see guidance notes for further details).

1. Condition of the tree(s) - e.g. it is diseased or you have fears that it might break or fall Yes  No

If Yes, you are required to provide written arboricultural advice or other diagnostic information from an appropriate expert.

2. Alleged damage to property - e.g. subsidence or damage to drains or drives. Yes  No

Planning Portal Reference: PP-07540417

Page 58



6. Trees - Additional Information

If Yes, you are required to provide for

Subsidence
A report by an engineer or surveyor, to include a description of damage, vegetation, monitoring data, soil, roots and repair proposals.  Also a report from an
arboriculturist to support the tree work proposals.

Other structural damage (e.g. drains walls and hard surfaces) Written technical evidence from an appropriate expert, including description of damage and possible
solutions.

Documents and plans (for any tree)

Are you providing additional information in support of your application (e.g. an additional schedule of work for question
'Identification of Tree(s) and Description of Works')?

Yes  No

If Yes, please provide the reference numbers of plans, documents, professional reports, photographs etc in support of your application

Map of the site including the areas of proposed works.

7. Tree Ownership

Is the applicant the owner of the tree(s)? Yes  No

8. Tree Preservation Order Details

If you know which TPO protects the tree(s), enter its title or number

T2 - 020 Town & Country Planning ACT 1947
The Southampton (Townhill Park - Cutbush Lane) Tree Preservation Order, 1956

9. Authority Employee/Member

With respect to the Authority, is the applicant and/or agent one of the following:
(a) a member of staff
(b) an elected member
(c) related to a member of staff
(d) related to an elected member

It is an important principle of decision-making that the process is open and transparent.

For the purposes of this question, "related to" means related, by birth or otherwise, closely enough that a fair-minded and
informed observer, having considered the facts, would conclude that there was bias on the part of the decision-maker in
the Local Planning Authority.

Do any of the above statements apply?

Yes  No

10. Trees - Declaration

I/we hereby apply for planning permission/consent as described in this form and the accompanying plans/drawings and additional information.  I/we confirm
that, to the best of my/our knowledge, any facts stated are true and accurate and any opinions given are the genuine opinions of the person(s) giving them. 

Date (cannot be pre-
application)

10/01/2019

Planning Portal Reference: PP-07540417

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 61

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 6



Page 62



Page 63

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 7



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 8



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



DECISION-MAKER: PLANNING RIGHTS OF WAY PANEL
SUBJECT: FACILITATION OF PHASE 1 OF SCN10 – A3024 

BURSLEDON ROAD
DATE OF DECISION: 12 MARCH 2019
REPORT OF: HEAD OF TRANSACTIONS AND UNIVERSAL 

SERVICES
CONTACT DETAILS

AUTHOR: Name: Stephen Woollard Tel: 023 8083 3005
E-mail: stephen.woollard@southampton.gov.uk

Director Name: Mitch Sanders Tel: 023 8083 3005
E-mail: mitch.sanders@southampton.gov.uk

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
NOT APPLICABLE

BRIEF SUMMARY
Approval is sought for the removal of Council owned trees to facilitate Phase 1 of 
SCN10 – A3024 Bursledon Road, and to replant with two trees for every one removed. 
Approximately nine sycamore trees, two ash trees and one willow tree would need to 
be removed to enable widening of the path. All are young or early mature, some with 
limited potential. Two mature Scots pine trees are required to be removed to facilitate a 
Toucan Crossing as part of the scheme.
Under the Policy Relating to Trees on Council Owned Land (1957, 1982) all trees in 
this ownership are protected as if by a Tree Preservation Order. The approval of the 
Plans Sub-Committee (now Planning and Rights of Way Panel) is required before any 
felling, lopping, topping or any other arboricultural works take place, except in special 
circumstances such as where trees are dead, dying or dangerous, or require seasonal 
pruning. Under this policy approval is sought by the panel.

RECOMMENDATIONS:
(i) Remove approximately nine sycamore, two ash, two Scots pine and 

one willow.
(ii) To replant two trees for every one removed.

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS
1. Cycling Southampton is SCC’s ambitious 10 year strategy for developing and 

growing cycling in the city. Within the strategy the Southampton Cycle 
Network (SCN) has been defined as a statement for how SCC wants the 
cycle network in Southampton to have a safe, integrated and easy to use 
network of cycle facilities.

2. The sycamore, ash and willow trees are located in an area with tree cover 
immediately to the north which will continue to provide visual amenity locally, 
and also intercept pollution, noise and visual impact from the A3024 for local 
residents.

Page 99

Agenda Item 6



3. The loss of these trees can be mitigated with nearby and wider planting with a 
size of stock able to provide instant impact. A wider species range may be 
selected to provide a more resilient tree population within the local area.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED
4.  To retain the mixed broadleaved species and not widen to the north.

This would lead to the cycle way being sub-standard in this short 
section, reverting to a substandard shared use path where pedestrians 
and cyclists are forced to interact on a narrow section of footway.

 To not upgrade to the Toucan Crossing.
This would result in the retention of a crossing that is not disability 
compliant, and would not gain a valuable contribution to the scheme 
that creates a dedicated crossing across this arm of the A3024. It also 
allows a better cycle connection into the surrounding residential area. 

 To adhere to the original plan and route for the Cycle Freeway.
This would have resulted in much greater tree loss. On-site discussion 
and subsequent redesign have resulted in greater tree retention.

DETAIL (Including consultation carried out)
5. A3024 Bursledon Road is one of the key multi modal routes into Southampton 

from the east connecting Hedge End, M27 Junction 8 with Bitterne and the 
City Centre.  Through Highways England’s Roads Investment Programme 
(RIS1) the A3024 was identified for improvements as part of the M27 
Southampton Junctions project to improve journey times into Southampton 
from the M27.  The project involved improvements to junctions along that 
corridor with expansion of Northam Rail Bridge, junction improvements, new 
traffic signal technology, and cycle and pedestrian facilities.  A public 
consultation was held on the proposals in Autumn 2017.  

6. Cycling Southampton is SCC’s ambitious 10 year strategy for developing and 
growing cycling in the city. Within the strategy the Southampton Cycle 
Network (SCN) has been defined as a statement for how SCC wants the 
cycle network in Southampton to have a safe, integrated and easy to use 
network of cycle facilities.

7. SCN10 runs from Hedge End to Southampton Central Station via Thornhill 
and Bitterne Village. It has been classified as a Cycle Freeway – the highest 
cycle provision standard under Cycling Southampton. A Cycle Freeway 
carries high volumes of cyclists and will have extensive safe segregation 
along the length of the corridor from both vehicles and pedestrians.

8. Investigations have been made into the route alignment along Thornhill in 
order to achieve the goal of segregation from pedestrians and vehicles. An on 
road solution has been investigated and ruled out as there is insufficient 
space in the existing carriageway and as such an off road solution is required. 
The route available passes adjacent to trees and vegetation. A design review 
has indicated that the existing path cannot be widened towards the 
carriageway as, due to the need to stabilise the existing bank, it will require 
the removal of more trees than would be required by widening to the north as 
proposed.  

Page 100



9. To facilitate the widening approximately nine sycamore trees, two ash trees 
and one willow tree would need to be removed. All are young or early mature. 
They are located in an area with tree cover immediately to the north which will 
continue to provide visual amenity locally, and also intercept pollution, noise 
and visual impact from the A3024 for local residents.

10. Further tree loss and damage will be minimised and avoided by the use of no-
dig construction where trees are adjacent to the proposed cycle freeway, by 
hand digging under supervision by an appointed arboriculturalist where 
construction requires excavation.

11. The creation of a toucan crossing (T87/88/91) at the junction of Hinkler / 
Bursledon Road requires two mature Scots pine trees to be removed to allow. 
This is a valuable contribution to the scheme in it creates a dedicated 
crossing across this arm of the A3024. It also allows a better cycle connection 
into the surrounding residential area.

12. The Scots pines shall be replaced by four trees of the same species (Scots 
pine) in available space opposite the trees proposed for removal. They shall 
be 7-9 metres tall at the time of planting.

13. The broadleaved trees shall be replaced by a mixture of deciduous and 
evergreen broadleaved and coniferous species as close to their original 
position as possible, in a quantity that space for mature size allows. 
Remaining numbers shall be planted in a suitable location within the city. All 
trees will be in excess of four metres in height at the time of planting.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
Capital/Revenue 
14. SCC made a successful bid to the Government’s National Productivity 

Improvement Fund (NPIF) for £3.7m to carry out advanced delivery of 
proposals on Bursledon Road including the traffic signal improvements and 
Cycle Freeway.   Funding also includes Section 106 contributions specific to 
the Bursledon Road/Hinkler Road junction.

Property/Other
15. None identified.
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report: 
16. The power to undertake the proposed tree works comes under the Highways 

Act 1980.
17. The trees are not protected by any statutory legislation, but under Council 

Policy are treated as if protected by a Tree Preservation Order. Accordingly, 
members should assess the impact of the proposal on the amenity of the area 
and whether the proposal is justified, having regard to the reasons and 
additional information put forward in support of it.

Other Legal Implications: 
18. None identified.
RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS
19. None identified.

Page 101



POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS
20. The project affects a number of SCC Policies, Plans and Strategies, to 

include:
 Cycling Strategy
 Health and Well Being Strategy
 Clean Air Strategy

21. Trees under Southampton City Council ownership are protected as if they 
have a Tree Preservation Order on them under policy first ratified on 11th 
June 1957 and later reviewed and approved on 26th February 1982. This 
places the responsibility for decisions to lop, top or fell trees with the Planning 
and Transportation Committee (now called the Planning and Rights of Way 
Panel) unless the tree is either dead, dying or dangerous or the works are 
part of the annual pruning requirements for the city. The trees in question are 
healthy specimens and therefore this report has been brought to the Planning 
and Rights of Way Panel for a decision.

KEY DECISION? Yes       
WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: Bitterne Ward

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION
Appendices 
1. None
Documents In Members’ Rooms
1. None
Equality Impact Assessment 
Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality and
Safety Impact Assessment (ESIA) to be carried out.

No

Data Protection Impact Assessment
Do the implications/subject of the report require a Data Protection 
Impact Assessment (DPIA) to be carried out.  

No

Other Background Documents
Other Background documents available for inspection at:
Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to 

Information Procedure Rules / 
Schedule 12A allowing document to 
be Exempt/Confidential (if applicable)

1. None

Page 102



INDEX OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DECISION
DATE: 12th March 2019 - 6pm Conference Rooms 3 and 4, 1st Floor, Civic Centre

Main Agenda 
Item Number

Officer Recommendation PSA Application Number / Site 
Address

7 MP DEL 5 18/02272/FUL
182-184 Bitterne Road West

8 MP CAP 5 18/02228/FUL
Parker House, Centenary Quay

PSA – Public Speaking Allowance (mins); CAP - Approve with Conditions: DEL - Delegate to 
Officers: PER - Approve without Conditions: REF – Refusal: TCON – Temporary Consent: 
NOBJ – No objection

Case Officers:
MP – Mat Pidgeon

Page 103

Agenda Annex



Southampton City Council - Planning and Rights of Way Panel

Report of Service Lead – Planning, Infrastructure & Development

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985
Index of Documents referred to in the preparation of reports on Planning 

Applications:

Background Papers

1. Documents specifically related to the application

(a) Application forms, plans, supporting documents, reports and covering 
letters

(b) Relevant planning history
(c) Response to consultation requests
(d) Representations made by interested parties

2. Statutory Plans

(a) Hampshire, Portsmouth, Southampton and New Forest National Park 
Minerals and Waste Plan (Adopted 2013) 

(b) Amended City of Southampton Local Plan Review (Adopted March 
2015)   

(c) Local Transport Plan 3 2011-2031
(d) Amended City of Southampton Local Development Framework – Core 

Strategy (inc. Partial Review) (adopted March 2015)
(e) Adopted City Centre Action Plan (2015)
(f) Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule (2013)
(g) Bassett Neighbourhood Plan (Adopted 2016)

3. Statutory Plans in Preparation

4. Policies and Briefs published and adopted by Southampton City Council

(a) Old Town Development Strategy (2004)
(b) Public Art Strategy 
(c) North South Spine Strategy (2004)
(d) Southampton City Centre Development Design Guide (2004)
(e) Streetscape Manual (2005)
(f) Residential Design Guide (2006)
(g) Developer Contributions SPD (September 2013)
(h) Greening the City - (Shoreburs; Lordsdale; Weston; Rollesbrook 

Valley; Bassett Wood and Lordswood Greenways) - 1985-1995.
(i) Women in the Planned Environment (1994)
(j) Advertisement Control Brief and Strategy (1991)
(k) Biodiversity Action Plan (2009)
(l) Economic Development Strategy (1996)
(m) Test Lane (1984)
(n) Itchen Valley Strategy (1993)

Page 104



(o) Portswood Residents’ Gardens Conservation Area Character Appraisal 
(1999)

(p) Land between Aldermoor Road and Worston Road Development Brief 
Character Appraisal(1997)

(q) The Bevois Corridor Urban Design Framework (1998)
(r) Southampton City Centre Urban Design Strategy (2000)
(s) St Mary’s Place Development Brief (2001)
(t) Ascupart Street Development Brief (2001)
(u) Woolston Riverside Development Brief (2004)
(v) West Quay Phase 3 Development Brief (2001)
(w) Northern Above Bar Development Brief (2002)
(x) Design Guidance for the Uplands Estate (Highfield) Conservation Area 

(1993)
(y) Design Guidance for the Ethelburt Avenue (Bassett Green Estate) 

Conservation Area (1993) 
(z) Canute Road Conservation Area Character Appraisal (1996)
(aa) The Avenue Conservation Area Character Appraisal (1997)
(bb) St James Road Conservation Area Character Appraisal (1996)
(cc) Banister Park Character Appraisal (1991)* 
(dd) Bassett Avenue Character Appraisal (1982)* 
(ee) Howard Road Character Appraisal (1991) *
(ff) Lower Freemantle Character Appraisal (1981) *
(gg) Mid Freemantle Character Appraisal (1982)* 
(hh) Westridge Road Character Appraisal (1989) *
(ii) Westwood Park Character Appraisal (1981) *
(jj) Cranbury Place Character Appraisal (1988) *
(kk) Carlton Crescent Character Appraisal (1988) *
(ll) Old Town Conservation Area Character Appraisal (1974) *
(mm) Oxford Street Conservation Area Character Appraisal (1982) *
(nn) Bassett Green Village Character Appraisal (1987) 
(oo) Old Woolston and St Annes Road Character Appraisal (1988) 
(pp) Northam Road Area Improvement Strategy (1987)*
(qq) Houses in Multiple Occupation (2012)
(rr) Vyse Lane/ 58 French Street (1990)*
(ss) Tauntons College Highfield Road Development Guidelines (1993)*
(tt) Old Woolston Development Control Brief (1974)*
(uu) City Centre Characterisation Appraisal (2009)
(vv) Parking standards (2011)

* NB – Policies in these documents superseded by the Residential Design 
Guide (September 2006, page 10), albeit character appraisal sections still to 
be had regard to.

5. Documents relating to Highways and Traffic

(a) Hampshire C.C. - Movement and Access in Residential Areas
(b) Hampshire C.C. - Safety Audit Handbook
(c) Cycling Strategy – Cycling Southampton 2017-2027
(d) Southampton C.C. - Access for All (March 1995)

Page 105



(e) Institute of Highways and Transportation - Transport in the Urban 
Environment

(f) I.H.T. - Traffic Impact Assessment Guidelines
(g) Freight Transport Association - Design for deliveries
(h) Department for Transport (DfT) and Highways England various 

technical notes 
(i) CIHT’s Manual for Streets and Manual for Streets 2

6. Government Policy Planning Advice

(a) National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019)
(b) National Planning Policy Guidance Suite

7. Other Published Documents

(a) Planning for Daylight and Sunlight - DOE
(b) Coast and Countryside Conservation Policy - HCC
(c) The influence of trees on house foundations in clay soils - BREDK
(d) Survey and Analysis - Landscape and Development HCC
(e) Root Damage to Trees - siting of dwellings and special precautions – 

Practice Note 3 NHDC
(f) Shopping Policies in South Hampshire - HCC
(g) Buildings at Risk Register SCC (1998)
(h) Southampton City Safety Audit (1998)
(i) Urban Capacity Study 2005 – 2011 (March 2006)
(j) Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (March 2013)

Page 106



 

Planning and Rights of Way Panel 12th March 2019
Planning Application Report of the Service Lead – Infrastructure, Planning and 

Development.

Application address:  
182-184, Bitterne Road West, Southampton.

Proposed development:
Erect three storey building (with basement) to provide replacement commercial space at 
basement/ground floor, either within Class A1 or dental surgery only within Class D1, with 1 No. 
three bedroom maisonette over, either within Class C3 or Class C4. Associated single vehicle 
servicing bay accessed from new dropped kerb to Athelstan Road. Integral bicycle parking and 
refuse storage, following demolition of existing retail premises (Resubmission of planning 
application 18/00358/FUL).

Application 
number

18/02272/FUL Application type Minor Dwellings

Case officer Mat Pidgeon Public speaking 
time

5 minutes

Last date for 
determination:

12th Feb 2019 Ward Peartree

Reason for Panel 
Referral:

Request by Ward 
Member and 5 or more 
representations

Ward Councillors Cllr Bell
Cllr Houghton
Cllr Keogh

Referred to panel 
by:

Cllr Keogh Reason Design, 
overdevelopment, 
parking pressure.

 
Applicant: Mr Andrew Jones Agent: ACHIEVE - Town Planning and Urban 

Design Ltd

Recommendation Summary Delegate to service Lead Infrastructure, 
Planning and Development.

Community Infrastructure Levy Liable Yes 

Reason for granting Planning Permission

The development is acceptable taking into account the policies and proposals of the Development 
Plan as set out below. Other material considerations including the design, impact on neighbouring 
amenity and on street car parking pressure have been considered and are not judged to have 
sufficient weight to justify a refusal of the application, and where applicable conditions have been 
applied in order to satisfy these matters. The scheme is therefore judged to be in accordance with 
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and thus planning permission 
should therefore be granted.  In reaching this decision the Local Planning Authority offered a pre-
application planning service and has sought to work with the applicant in a positive and proactive 
manner as required by paragraphs 186-187 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 

Policies - SDP1, SDP4, SDP5, SDP7, SDP8, SDP9, SDP10, SDP13, SDP14, SDP15, SDP16, 
SDP22, H1, H2 and H7 of the City of Southampton Local Plan Review (Amended 2015) and CS3, 
CS4, CS5, CS13, CS16, CS18, CS19, CS20 and CS25 of the Local Development Framework Core 
Strategy Development Plan Document (Amended 2015).

Page 107

Agenda Item 7



 

Appendix attached
1 Development Plan Policies
2 10/00374/FUL - Reasons for refusal and refused plans
3 18/00358/FUL - Reasons for refusal and refused plans
4 18/00358/FUL – Planning and Rights of Way Panel Minutes of the Meeting Held on 10th July 

2018
5 Habitats Regulations Assessment
6 Parking Survey
7 HMO Threshold test results

Recommendation in Full

1. That the Panel confirm the Habitats Regulation Assessment in Appendix 5 of this report.

2. Delegate to service Lead Infrastructure, Planning and Development to grant conditional approval 
subject to no fresh planning related issues being received in connection with the updated car 
parking survey by Wednesday 13th March 2019.

3. That the Service Lead – Infrastructure, Planning & Development be given delegated powers to 
add, vary and /or conditions as necessary.

Background

A previous planning application for a similar scheme was brought to the Planning and Rights of 
Way Panel meeting held on 10th July 2018 where the application was refused for three separate 
reasons. This current application seeks to address the concerns raised within that decision.

The scheme differs to the previously refused scheme in the following ways:
 A single flat is proposed on the upper floors containing three bedrooms rather than seeking 

to provide two x two bed flats on the upper floors. 
 A balcony/terrace has been removed from second floor level.
 Reduced building footprint.
 The scheme now includes a flat roof rather than mansard design.
 Facing materials retain brickwork previously shown but also now include render.
 A complete parking survey has been provided.
 The proposal now includes a basement to compensate for the loss of commercial 

floorspace previously proposed.

1 The site and its context

1.1 The application site is located on the corner of Bitterne Road West and Athelstan Road. 
The site is occupied by a single storey detached commercial unit operated most recently 
as a hairdressers under the A1 use class. The site is open and not bounded by 
boundary treatment at present adjacent to Bitterne Road West and Athelstan Road. 
Lack of boundary treatment allows members of the public to walk through the site from 
Bitterne Road West to Athelstan Road. Vehicles are also capable of using the side 
access between the application site and 186 Bitterne Road West although the route 
appears informal and seldom used. The proposed development would result in the loss 
of this access for vehicles. 

1.2 To the rear of the site there is a vehicular access route allowing access to the backs of 
the properties 186 – 194 Bitterne Road West. The route is not a public highway and 
residents benefit from a right of access. Many residents of 186 – 194 use the space 
behind their properties for parking purposes. 

Page 108



 

1.3 The adjacent building to the east (186 Bitterne Road West) is a traditional two-storey 
design with a hipped roof. There is a commercial use at ground floor (A5) and residential 
above. To the rear of the site, along Athelstan Road, are two-storey residential 
dwellings, to the west is a terrace of two and a half storey buildings with commercial or 
residential uses at ground floor and flats above whilst to the north on the opposite side 
of Bitterne Road West are single storey retail units for bulky goods.

1.4 The site is not within a primary or secondary retail frontage area nor is it within a District 
or Local Centre. The site falls within a medium accessibility area and is also within an Air 
Quality Management Area (AQMA).

1.5 Parking on Bitterne Road West and Athelstan Road near to the site is controlled by Traffic 
Regulation Orders in the form of double yellow lines. The highway adjacent to the site is 
also controlled by ‘no waiting at any time’ restrictions. 

1.6 The wider surrounding area is residential, comprising a mix of terraced houses, semi-
detached houses and detached houses. There are commercial uses opposite and Bitterne 
Train Station is 0.1 mile away to the north west. The nearest defined commercial centres 
are Bitterne Triangle Local Centre which is half a mile to the north and Bitterne District 
Centre which is a little less than a mile to the east.

2 Proposal

2.1 Erection of a three storey building with basement to provide a ground floor retail unit 
(with ancillary basement) and one x three bed flat on the upper floors with associated 
parking and cycle/refuse storage, following demolition of existing building. The site is 
triangular in shape which is a constraint to development potential. This scheme seeks to 
address the previous reasons for refusal on an earlier proposal.

3 Relevant Planning Policy

3.1 The Development Plan for Southampton currently comprises the “saved” policies of the 
City of Southampton Local Plan Review (as amended 2015) and the City of 
Southampton Core Strategy (as amended 2015).  The most relevant policies to these 
proposals are set out at Appendix 1.  

3.2 The Council has reviewed the Core Strategy to ensure that it is in compliance with the 
NPPF (as amended 2019) and are satisfied that the vast majority of policies accord with 
the aims of the NPPF and therefore retain their full material weight for decision making 
purposes, unless otherwise indicated.

4. Relevant Planning History

4.1 Application 18/00358/FUL was recommended to panel for approval but was 
subsequently refused at Planning Panel 10th July 2018. The application sought the 
erection of a three storey building to provide a ground floor retail unit and two x two bed 
flats on upper floors with associated parking and cycle/refuse storage, following 
demolition of existing building. Three reasons for refusal were listed and are 
summarised below (full reasons and plans are included as Appendix 3):

1. Design: Responds poorly and fails to integrate with its local surroundings by 
reason of its cramped design, its relationship with the existing pattern of 
development along Bitterne Road West and excessive site coverage leading to 
an overdevelopment of the site.

2. Incomplete Car Parking Survey
3. Lack of Section 106 or unilateral undertaking to secure planning obligations - 

failure to secure mitigation towards the 'Solent Disturbance Mitigation Project'

Page 109



 

4.2 Application 10/00374/FUL was refused in May 2010. The application sought planning 
permission for the redevelopment of the site following demolition of existing shop unit 
and erection of 5 flats comprising 1 x 1 bed and 4 x 2 bed (two storey with 
accommodation in roof) with detached single storey bike store and refuse enclosure and 
new site boundary wall/railings/gates. Five reasons for refusal were listed and can be 
summarised as follows (f full reasons and plans are included as Appendix 2):

1. Design; responds poorly and fails to integrate with its local surroundings by 
reason of its design, including flat roofed form, its relationship with the existing 
pattern of development along Bitterne Road West and the excessive site 
coverage. Overdevelopment of the site.

2. Residential Environment; insufficient amenity space, failure to detail adequate 
mitigation measures (noise, odour, air quality), poorly location refuse and cycle 
store, lack of defensible space in front of habitable room windows.

3. Highways Safety; doors and windows overhanging public highway when open.
4. Code for Sustainable Homes; no commitment or details submitted.
5. Section 106 – Financial obligations were required to offset the impact of the 

development.

4.3 07/02064/OUT- Redevelopment of the site.  Demolition of the existing building and 
erection of a two-storey building to provide 12 one-bedroom flats (Outline application 
seeking approval for layout and scale of development) – Withdrawn.

4.4 05/00184/OUT - Redevelopment of the site by the erection of a two-storey building 
comprising four flats and a commercial retail unit (outline application for means of 
access and siting). Conditionally Approve.

4.5 930240/E – Erection of a first floor to form self-contained flat with ground floor 
extensions – Refused, April 1993, refusal reasons included: overdevelopment, coverage 
of site, lack of amenity space, out of character and insufficient parking.

5 Consultation Responses and Notification Representations

5.1 Following the receipt of the planning application a publicity exercise in line with 
department procedures was undertaken which included notifying adjoining and nearby 
landowners and erecting a site notice (15/01/2019). At the time of writing the report 7 
representations have been received from surrounding residents, including a Panel 
referral by Cllr Keogh. The following is a summary of the relevant points raised:

5.2 Poor design/out of character with the surroundings – design has not sufficiently 
improved. 
Response: The position of the building on a corner and opposite three storey 
development on the south west side of the junction of Bitterne Road West and Athelstan 
Road provides scope for variety of design. The chosen design is acceptable within this 
varied context.

5.3 Overlooking/neighbouring privacy. 
Response: The layout of the flats means that habitable room windows will not face 
towards neighbouring residential properties or gardens. A privacy screen is proposed on 
the side of the raised terrace. Further details of measures required to ensure that the 
privacy of neighbours will be protected can be secured by planning condition.

5.4 Greater intensity of use than existing.
Response: It would be unreasonable to oppose the scheme on this basis. Planning 
policies seek the maximum use of derelict, vacant and underused land for residential 

Page 110



 

development and intensification is not in itself harmful. The applicants are keen to 
maximise the site’s potential and contribute towards meeting a housing need.

5.5 Increased potential for vehicles to unlawfully park on and therefore block the rear 
access to 186 – 194 Bitterne Road West. 
Response: This is a civil matter to be resolved outside of the planning system. It would 
be unreasonable to penalise the applicant for the behaviour of other vehicle owners 
choosing to park illegally.

5.6 Highways danger/obstruction when servicing of the proposed commercial unit. 
Response: There is currently space at the rear of the site for a vehicle to park for 
servicing purposes. The proposal includes a space on site to ensure that servicing can 
still occur from the site. 

5.7 Highways Safety – sightlines from vehicular access to rear of properties 186 – 194 
Bitterne Road West and addition of new dropped kerb. 
Response: No objection raised by Highways Development Management on the basis of 
the plans which secure sightlines for the single proposed car parking space.

5.8 Increased traffic generally as a consequence of the development. Increased 
parking pressure and poor survey work. 
Response: The proposal is fairly modest and is unlikely to result in a significant 
increase in road traffic. Occupants would have access to public transport and cycle 
storage. Reliance on private vehicles in this location is not necessary for access to 
public services, employment and amenities. The parking survey submitted by the 
applicant (undertaken Sunday 3rd and Tuesday 5th February 2019 [both at 22:00]) also 
demonstrates that locally (within 250m of the site) there is sufficient available capacity to 
accommodate parking that may be required as a consequence of the development, the 
total number being 2 spaces (Maximum provision for 3 bed residential dwellings in 
accordance with 4.2.2 of the Council’s adopted Parking Standards SPD). This accords 
sufficiently with the Lambeth model and neighbours have been re-consulted on its 
conclusions. Any comments received will be verbally updated at Panel. Survey attached 
at Appendix 6.

5.9 Construction – Disturbance on the public highway (roads and footpath). 
Response: A construction environment management plan can be added to control 
parking of construction related traffic and location of construction compound. 
 

5.10 Construction – Disturbance (noise).
Response: Planning conditions can be used to prevent construction at unreasonable 
hours.

5.11 Construction – Damage to the highway and neighbouring properties (in particular 
owing the new proposal for basement accommodation). 
Response: The scale of the development is such that it is not anticipated that damage 
will occur thus it would be unreasonable/disproportionate to add a condition to monitor 
damage to the highway. Damage to private property is a civil matter. The Highways Act 
includes provisions for securing works to remedy damage by a third party.

5.12 Impact on the public sewer and increased potential for surface level flooding. 
Response: No objection received from Southern Water. The proposal also provides the 
potential to improve drainage locally and help to prevent flooding given that the site is 
currently 100% hardsurfaced and is unlikely to include soakaways for surface water 
drainage. Surface water drainage through the use of soakaways will be controlled 
through Building Regulations.

Consultation Responses

Page 111



 

5.13 Southern Water - No objection subject to conditions.

5.14 CIL – The development is CIL liable.

5.15 SCC Environmental Health – Reports submitted in relation to noise, odour and air 
quality have allayed previous concerns. No objection is raised subject to the 
recommendations/conclusions of the reports submitted and imposition of relevant 
conditions.

5.16 SCC Archaeology – No objection subject to conditions.

5.17 SCC Sustainability Team – No objection. Apply recommended conditions.

5.18 SCC Highways - No objection raised. Amended plans have been received to bin and 
cycle storage. It is deemed that there will be no significant change in terms of highways 
safety. Apply recommended conditions.

5.20 SCC Ecology – No objection is raised.

6. Planning Consideration Key Issues

6.1 The key issues for consideration during the determination of this planning application are: 

 the principle of the development; 
 the impact of the design of the building on the character of the area; 
 the quality of the residential environment produced for prospective residents; 
 the impact on the amenities of neighbouring and surrounding residents; 
 highways safety, car parking and access for servicing.
 Habitats regulations

 Principle of Development.

6.2 The scheme would make efficient use of previously developed land to provide a mixed 
use development that includes housing, thereby assisting the Council in meeting its 
housing requirements of 16,300 homes to 2026. The proposal incorporates one x three 
bedroom flat proposed to be occupied as a house in multiple occupation. Policy H2 of 
the Local Plan encourages the maximum use of derelict, vacant and underused land for 
residential development. Policy H8 of the Local Plan Review states that for medium 
accessibility areas net density levels should generally accord with the range for density 
of between 50 and 100 dwellings per hectare for new residential development. The area 
of the site proposed for development is 0.016 hectares. With one dwelling the density 
would be 62 units per hectare. The scheme therefore complies with the council’s density 
requirements which is deemed acceptable in this location given the site constraints and 
access to public services and amenities, including Bitterne Train Station which is 0.1 
mile to the north east.

6.3 In terms of the houses in multiple occupation (HMO) assessment officers conclude that 
the assessment area contains only one dwelling that is capable of accommodating a 
family (three or more bedrooms) (Refer to Appendix 7). Therefore with all of the other 
properties in the area discounted from the calculation, strictly speaking, 50% of the 
dwellings capable of accommodating a family in the assessment site would be HMO’s 
which exceeds the threshold (10%) as set out in the HMO Supplementary Planing 
Document. Officers have not however opposed the proposal on this basis as the 
development is not considered conducive to family living. Consideration has been given 
to the position of the site on a busy junction, the raised terrace as an amenity space (as 
opposed to a garden area) and lack of available onsite car parking. Accordingly the 
development is considered more suitable for occupation as an HMO rather than as a 
family dwelling house. 

Page 112



 

 

6.4 The scheme seeks permission for a retail unit or a dental surgery. Neither uses are 
opposed in principle having taken into account the land use designation for the site and 
relevant planning policies.

6.5 The principle of the development is acceptable.

The impact of the design of the building on the character of the area.

6.6 Since the previous schemes were refused in 2010 and 2018 the building design has 
been amended. The proposal is contemporary in form and has similarities to the 2018 
scheme. The proposal is a significant improvement over the previously refused 2010 
scheme. 

6.7 Since the refused scheme in 2018 the design has been amended and successfully 
responds to and integrates with the local surroundings in the following ways:

 The mass and bulk of the proposal has been reduced by changing the form of 
the roof with the mansard now being removed and instead a flat roof form has 
been chosen.

 The reduced building height by 0.8 metres (caused by the change of roof form) 
responds better to the height of neighbouring buildings fronting Bitterne Road 
West.

 The amount of site coverage by building footprint (notwithstanding the overhang 
caused by the first floor roof terrace). 

 Ground floor footprint no longer exceeds 50% of the site.

6.8 The unusual shape and corner positon of the site makes it difficult to directly reflect the 
appearance of properties on Bitterne Road West and therefore the Council considers 
that this allows for some flexibility in design terms.  

6.9 Whilst the amended design (following application 18/00358/FUL) is still not typical of the 
buildings found locally it is also not considered to be sufficiently harmful to local 
character to be opposed on this basis. Use of high quality modern materials will be 
needed in order to ensure the visual success of the scheme. Materials will be controlled 
by condition; should it be deemed necessary brick could be required for the whole 
building.

6.10 A diversion from the building design type found locally is not in itself considered harmful. 
The building broadly reflects local buildings in terms of its proportions and 
contemporarily designed buildings are not necessary harmful when inserted into areas 
of traditional built form and whilst design tastes may vary in this instance Officers cannot 
recommend refusal on design grounds following the amendments that have been made. 
The scheme is considered to have addressed the first reason for refusal relating to 
design and context.

The quality of the residential environment produced for prospective residents.

6.11 The proposed residential development is within walking and cycling distance of a range 
of local facilities and services with good access to public transport. In particular there is 
a small parade of shops close to the application site on Bitterne Road West and there is 
a larger parade of shops on Bitterne Triangle which is approximately half a mile to the 
north. Bitterne District Centre is also less than a mile away to the east.

Page 113



 

6.12 The proposal incorporates one private balcony (26sq.m) for the occupants of the three 
bedroom flat to use. The amenity space provided therefore does accord with the space 
requirements recommended in the residential design guide. 

6.13 It is also noteworthy that public open space is available nearby and includes Riverside 
Park, which is half a mile to the north.

6.14 The privacy experienced by residents will be acceptable and natural surveillance of the 
street is achieved from habitable room windows. The ground floor entrance to the flats is 
also located so that it will be visible from the street.

6.15 Habitable rooms within the proposed buildings will all have good access to outlook, and 
daylight. The proposed flat is dual aspect and the room sizes and overall flat size, in 
excess of 100sq.m, provide sufficient space to result in sufficient quality of residential 
environment.

6.16 The site is positioned within an Air Quality Management Area and therefore officers 
asked for an air quality assessment to accompany the application. The report (Air 
Quality and Odour Assessment) that was commissioned identifies that the impacts of 
local traffic on the air quality for residents living in the proposed development have been 
shown to be acceptable. The report author has reviewed nationally set standards for air 
quality and survey data provided by Southampton City Council for this location when 
compiling the repot. The conclusion to the report does not therefore recommend any 
mitigation measures in respect of air quality and considers that there should be no 
constraints to residential occupation at the site, with regard to air quality. The 
Environmental Health Team agree.

6.17 In terms of odour the neighbouring hot food takeaway has a flue which is positioned 
adjacent to the application site. The impact of the flue on the occupiers of the unit has 
been mitigated by designing the building so that there are no windows within the flank 
wall of the building and next to the hot food take away unit. The Air Quality and Odour 
Assessment concludes that given that odour effects at the proposed development are 
likely to be negligible, the odour impacts are judged to be insignificant. The 
Environmental Health Team also agree to this approach.

6.18 With respect to both air quality and odour the Council’s Environmental Health Team do 
not dispute the conclusions set out in the Air Quality and Odour Assessment and 
accordingly have not raised an objection to the proposed development.

The impact on the amenities of neighbouring and surrounding residents.

6.19 The proposed building is considerably larger than the existing building on the site and as 
a consequence a greater shadow will be cast by it. The shadow diagram provided by the 
applicant (submitted in relation to application 18/00358/FUL) indicates that in the 
evening the neighbouring site will in part be cast in shadow. However in the summer 
months when the sun is higher in the sky the impact will be less than during winter 
months. The previous scheme was considered against recognised BRE guidance and 
was not previously considered a concern. It is judged that the proposed scheme would 
not have a significantly different impact and therefore is also not opposed on this basis. 

6.20 The proposal will not harm outlook from habitable room windows of the neighbouring 
property.

6.21 Provided that the occupiers of the proposed development behave reasonably neighbours 
residential amenity in terms of noise and disturbance will not be significantly harmed.

Page 114



 

6.22 A privacy screen will be used to ensure that neighbouring privacy is not harmed as a 
consequence of the raised balcony.

Highways safety, car parking and access for servicing.

6.23 The proposal indicates one dedicated space for car parking. The proposal identifies that 
the space will be used for servicing of the shop unit so that servicing vehicles do not 
park on Athelstan Road, Bitterne Road West or on the pavement adjacent to the 
application site. It is noted that the Highways Team are supportive of this approach and 
have not opposed the scheme. The Highways Team and the case officer acknowledge 
that servicing occurs from the rear of the site at present with servicing vehicles also 
parking at the rear. Whilst the proposal does not include turning provision on site 
existing servicing vehicles are also unlikely to currently be turning on site before re-
entering the public highway. It is therefore deemed acceptable to support the current 
proposal given that the changes are not judged to be significant in terms of highways 
safety and represents improvements over the current situation.

6.24 The site is within a medium accessibility area. The location is well served by public 
transport and it is not considered that the occupiers of the residential units will require 
cars in order to access employment as well as public goods and services which are 
necessary for day to day living.

6.25 Therefore whilst the adopted maximum parking standards would allow up to two parking 
spaces per residential unit, 1 per 20sq.m of retail floorspace (A1 use) and 3 parking 
spaces per consulting room (in the case of a dental surgery [D1 use]) those figures are 
absolute maximums and sites may not always be capable of delivering more parking. A 
suitable balance is needed and SCC standards do allow for car free development. In this 
particular case zero parking for residents and one space to serve the commercial unit on 
site (and to be used when residents are moving in and out) is considered acceptable. 
This conclusion has been made having also taken account of the submitted car parking 
survey which shows that there is sufficient available capacity (6 spaces [see appendix 
6]) within the local area to accommodate parking that may be required as a 
consequence of the residential element of the development. Customers of the 
commercial element of the proposal will not need to rely upon private vehicles to access 
the site.

Turning to parking proposed to serve the commercial element of the proposal 

6.26 The Parking Technical Note that accompanies the application has been prepared by 
Paul Basham Associates. Parking surveys were undertaken within a 250m radius of the 
site on Sunday 3rd February 2019 at 22:00 and Tuesday 5th February 2019 at 22:00, in 
accordance with the Lambeth Methodology and Southampton City Council’s adjusted 
Parking Survey requirements in consultation with the Councils Highways Team. The 
results of the surveys demonstrate that a minimum of 6 spaces were available within 
250m of the site.

6.27 SCC’s Parking Standards SPD (2011) demonstrates that, for this particular site, a 
maximum of 2 car parking spaces could be provided for the occupants of the flat. For 
the commercial unit a total of 3 spaces could be provided. Whilst the development 
provides just one space (for servicing of the retail/medical unit and the flats) the parking 
surveys demonstrate that there is sufficient available capacity to accommodate a 
potential maximum demand of 5 vehicles. As the parking standards SPD allows for this 
approach the scheme is not opposed by officers on this basis. The Panel will note that 
the existing hairdressers has limited parking also.

6.28 The historic or current arrangement whereby neighbours and visitors to the site; and 
visitors to nearby commercial units, park on the site is not a material planning 

Page 115



 

consideration given that the current arrangement could be ended irrespective of 
planning permission being granted. This is again a civil matter. 

6.29 Objectors to the scheme, in particular those who live within the row 186 – 194 Bitterne 
Road West and who have access over land to the rear of the site to access their 
properties (including by car), are concerned that as a direct result of the proposal current 
problems associated with gaining access to and from the rear of their properties will be 
exacerbated. Whilst Officers understand the frustration that may occur in the event of 
the access being blocked the point is immaterial to the determination of this planning 
application. The applicant should not be penalised for the unlawful parking of vehicles 
on a privately owned service route. Local parking pressure and illegal parking practices 
are acknowledged however they cannot be directly attributed to the proposed 
development. The application must be determined with reasonable behaviour in mind.

6.30 No objection has been raised to the proposal from the Highways Development 
Management Team. Refuse and cycle storage, as well as parking on site, can be 
achieved and the previous reason for refusal has been addressed relating to parking.

Habitat Regulations

6.31 The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended) provides 
statutory protection for designated sites, known collectively as Natura 2000, including 
Special Areas of Conservation (SAC) and Special Protection Areas (SPA).  This 
legislation requires competent authorities, in this case the Local Planning Authority, to 
ensure that plans or projects, either on their own or in combination with other plans or 
projects, do not result in adverse effects on these designated sites.  The Solent 
coastline supports a number of Natura 2000 sites including the Solent and Southampton 
Water SPA, designated principally for birds, and the Solent Maritime SAC, designated 
principally for habitats.  Research undertaken across south Hampshire has indicated 
that current levels of recreational activity are having significant adverse effects on 
certain bird species for which the sites are designated.  A mitigation scheme, known as 
the Solent Disturbance Mitigation Project (SDMP), requiring a financial contribution has 
been adopted. The money collected from this project will be used to fund measures 
designed to reduce the impacts of recreational activity.  This application has complied 
with the requirements of the SDMP and meets the requirements of the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended) and the Panel need to agree that 
the impacts caused from the new dwelling can be mitigated as discussed in the attached 
Habitats Regulations Assessment and the final reason for refusal has been addressed.  

7 Summary

7.1 The Council is committed to providing high quality residential environments for the 
citizens of the city and aim to work with developers to make efficient use of available 
land. Permission is sought for a well-designed mixed use scheme on previously 
developed land which is within close proximity to a train station. As such the scheme 
fulfils the requirements of the NPPF.

8 Conclusion

8.1 The positive aspects of the scheme are not judged to be outweighed by the negative. In 
considering the application the Council have taken account of the previously refused 
scheme. The scheme is recommended for conditional approval.

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 
Documents used in the preparation of this report Background Papers

Page 116



 

1 (a) (b) (c) (d), 2 (b) (d), 4 (f) (g) (vv), 6 (a) (b), 7 (a).

MP3 for 12/03/2019 PROW Panel

PLANNING CONDITIONS

1. Full Permission Timing Condition (Performance)
The development hereby permitted shall begin no later than three years from the date on
which this planning permission was granted.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended).

2. Approved Plans
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
plans listed in the schedule attached below, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3. Remove Permitted Development (A1 and D1 use) (Performance Condition).
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (as amended), or any Order amending, revoking or re-enacting that 
Order, no changes of use permitted within Schedule 2, Part 3 of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended), or any Order amending, revoking or 
re-enacting that Order shall be carried out without the prior written consent of the Local Planning 
Authority. The ground and basement A1/D1 use unit shall also not be used as a place of worship
Reason: In order that the Local Planning Authority may exercise further control in this locality given 
that there is limited opportunity for parking, amenity areas and the proximity of ground floor 
windows to the public highway resulting potentially unacceptable privacy for future occupants.

4. Hours of Use. (Performance)
The A1 / D1 use unit hereby approved shall not operate outside the following hours:
Monday to Saturday   - 07:00 – 19:00                                   
Sunday and recognised public holidays – 07:00 – 13:00     
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of existing nearby residential properties and 
occupiers of the upper floor flats.

5. Cycle storage facilities (Pre-Commencement Condition)
Before the development hereby approved first comes into occupation, secure and covered storage 
for bicycles shall be provided in accordance with details to be first submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The storage shall be thereafter retained as approved. 
Reason: To encourage cycling as an alternative form of transport.

6. Refuse & Recycling (Pre-Commencement)
Prior to the commencement of development, details of storage for refuse and recycling, together 
with the access to it, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The storage shall be provided in accordance with the agreed details before the development is first 
occupied and thereafter retained as approved. Unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning 
Authority, except for collection days only, no refuse shall be stored to the front of the development 
hereby approved. 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity, the amenities of future occupiers of the development 
and the occupiers of nearby properties and in the interests of highway safety.

Note to applicant: In accordance with para 9.2.3 of the Residential Design Guide (September 
2006): if this development involves new dwellings, the applicant is liable for the supply of refuse 
bins, and should contact SCC refuse team at Waste.management@southampton.gov.uk at least 8 
weeks prior to occupation of the development to discuss requirements.

Page 117



 

7. Details & samples of building materials to be used [Pre-above ground work condition]
Notwithstanding the approved plans no above ground works shall be carried out unless and until a 
detailed schedule of materials and finishes including samples (of bricks, roof tiles and cladding) to 
be used for external walls and the roof of the proposed buildings; and all boundary treatment, has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Details shall include all 
new glazing, window reveal depth, window sill details, panel tints, drainage goods, and the ground 
surface treatments formed. Development shall be implemented only in accordance with the agreed 
details.
Reason:
To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the development in detail in the interests of 
amenity by endeavouring to achieve a building of visual quality.

8. Balcony Access [Pre-Occupation Condition]
The external balcony serving the development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved plans and made available prior to the first occupation of the development hereby 
permitted. The balcony space shall be retained with access to it at all times for the use of the 
occupants thereafter in perpetuity. 
REASON: To ensure the provision of adequate amenity space in association with the approved 
development.

9. Balcony Privacy Screen [Pre-Occupation Condition]
Before occupation of the development hereby approved full details of the privacy screen proposed 
for to be added to the raised terrace, used to prevent overlooking of neighbouring properties to the 
east, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved 
boundary treatment shall be erected prior to the occupation of the building and subsequently shall 
be retained.
Reason: To protect the amenities and privacy of occupiers of the adjoining property

10. Restricted use of flat roof area [Performance Condition]
The roof area of the building hereby approved which incorporates a flat roof surface shall not be 
used for storage purposes, as a balcony, terrace, roof garden or similar amenity area without the 
grant of further specific permission from the Local Planning authority.   
Reason: In order to protect the privacy of adjoining occupiers.

11. Doors opening inwards and not to overhang public highway [Performance Condition]
The doors providing access to the ground floor unit and the upper floor residential unit hereby 
approved shall open into the building and shall at no time encroach onto or overhang the public 
highway.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety

12. No other windows or doors other than approved [Performance Condition]
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 2015 as amended (or any order amending, revoking or re-enacting that 
Order), no windows, doors or other openings other than those expressly authorised by this 
permission shall be inserted at first and second floor level within the buildings hereby approved 
without further prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To protect the amenities of the adjoining residential properties.

13. Hours of Work for Demolition / Clearance / Construction (Performance)
All works relating to the demolition, clearance and construction of the development hereby
granted shall only take place between the hours of:
Monday to Friday 08:00 to 18:00 hours
Saturdays 09:00 to 13:00 hours
And at no time on Sundays and recognised public holidays.
Any works outside the permitted hours shall be confined to the internal preparations of the

Page 118



 

buildings without audible noise from outside the building, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of existing nearby residential properties.

14. Construction Management Plan (Pre-Commencement)
Before any development or demolition works are commenced details shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority making provision for a Construction Method 
Plan   for the development.  The Construction Management Plan shall include details of: 

(a) parking of vehicles of site personnel, operatives and visitors; 
(b) loading and unloading of plant and materials;
(c) storage of plant and materials, including cement mixing and washings, used in 

constructing the development; 
(d) treatment of all relevant pedestrian routes and highways within and around the site 

throughout the course of construction and their reinstatement where necessary; and
(e) measures to be used for the suppression of dust and dirt throughout the course of 

demolition and construction; 
The approved Construction Management Plan shall be adhered to throughout the development 
process unless agreed otherwise in writing by the local planning authority. 
Reason: In the interest of health and safety, protecting the amenity of local land uses, neighbouring 
residents, the character of the area and highway safety.

15.Wheel Cleaning Facilities (Pre-commencement)
During the period of the preparation of the site, excavation for foundations or services and
the construction of the development, wheel cleaning facilities shall be available on the site
and no vehicle shall leave the site until its wheels are sufficiently clean to prevent mud being
carried onto the highway.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

16. On site vehicular parking [Performance Condition]
The approved vehicular parking space shall be constructed and laid out in accordance with the 
approved plans prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved. The parking 
space approved shall be permanently retained to manage servicing of the retail unit and to assist 
residents when moving into and out of the flats and/or when delivering furniture and similar bulky 
goods only. At no other time shall the parking space be used by occupants of the flats or their 
visitors. 
Reason: To avoid congestion of the adjoining highway and in the interests of highways safety.

17. Measures to prevent additional parking (Pre-Occupation Condition)
Prior to occupation measures to prevent vehicle parking outside of the defined parking space 
provided and agreed on site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. Once approved the measures shall be implemented prior to occupation of the building.
Reason: In the interests of highways safety.

18. Archaeological structure-recording [Pre-Commencement Condition]
No development shall take place within the site until the implementation of a programme of 
recording has been secured in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that the recording of a significant structure is initiated at an appropriate point in 
development procedure.

19. Archaeological structure-recording work programme [Performance Condition]
The developer will secure the completion of a programme of archaeological work in accordance 
with a written scheme of investigation which has been submitted to and approved by the Local 
planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that the archaeological investigation is completed.

20. Archaeological watching brief investigation [Pre-Commencement Condition]
Page 119



 

No development shall take place within the site until the implementation of a programme of 
archaeological work has been secured in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which 
has been submitted to and approved by the Local planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that the archaeological investigation is initiated at an appropriate point in 
development procedure.

21. Archaeological watching brief work programme [Performance Condition]
The developer will secure the completion of a programme of archaeological work in accordance 
with a written scheme of investigation which has been submitted to and approved by the Local 
planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that the archaeological investigation is completed.

22. Land Contamination investigation and remediation (Pre-Commencement & Occupation)
Prior to the commencement of development approved by this planning permission (or such other 
date or stage in development as may be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority), a 
scheme to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site shall be submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority.   That scheme shall include all of the following phases, 
unless identified as unnecessary by the preceding phase and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority: 
1. A desk top study including;
- historical and current sources of land contamination
- results of a walk-over survey identifying any evidence of land contamination  
- identification of the potential contaminants associated with the above
- an initial conceptual site model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors
- a qualitative assessment of the likely risks
- any requirements for exploratory investigations.

2. A report of the findings of an exploratory site investigation, characterising the site and 
allowing for potential risks (as identified in phase 1) to be assessed.

3. A scheme of remediation detailing the remedial actions to be taken and how they will be 
implemented.

 
On completion of the works set out in (3) a verification report shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority confirming the remediation actions that have been undertaken in accordance 
with the approved scene of remediation and setting out any measures for maintenance, further 
monitoring, reporting and arrangements for contingency action.  The verification report shall be 
approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to the occupation or operational use of any stage of 
the development. Any changes to these agreed elements require the express consent of the local 
planning authority.

Reason: To ensure land contamination risks associated with the site are appropriately investigated 
and assessed with respect to human health and the wider environment and where required 
remediation of the site is to an appropriate standard.

23. Use of uncontaminated soils and fill (Performance)
Clean, uncontaminated soil, subsoil, rock, aggregate, brick rubble, crushed concrete and ceramic 
shall only be permitted for infilling and landscaping on the site. Any such materials imported on to 
the site must be accompanied by documentation to validate their quality and be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority for approval prior to the occupancy of the site.
Reason: To ensure imported materials are suitable and do not introduce any land contamination 
risks onto the development.

24. Unsuspected contamination (Performance)
The site shall be monitored for evidence of unsuspected contamination throughout construction. If 
potential contamination is encountered that has not previously been identified, no further 
development shall be carried out unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Works shall not recommence until an assessment of the risks presented by the 

Page 120



 

contamination has been undertaken and the details of the findings and any remedial actions has 
been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall proceed 
in accordance with the agreed details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.
Reason: To ensure any land contamination not previously identified is assessed and remediated 
so as not to present any significant risks to human health or, the wider environment.

25. Public sewer protection (Performance)
Prior to the commencement of development, details of the measures to protect the public sewer 
from damage during the demolition and construction shall be submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority in writing. The measures shall be implemented as approved for the 
duration of demolition and construction works. 
Reason: In order to safeguard the public sewer.

26. Foul and surface water sewerage disposal – Pre-commencement Condition.
Construction of the development shall not commence until details of the proposed means of foul 
and surface water sewerage disposal have been submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority, in consultation with Southern Water. Once approved the development shall 
take place in accordance with the agreed details.
Reason: To ensure correct disposal of foul and surface water is achieved from the site.

27. Energy & water [Pre-Commencement Condition
Before the development commences, written documentary evidence demonstrating that the 
development will achieve at minimum 19% improvement over 2013 Dwelling Emission Rate (DER)/ 
Target Emission Rate (TER) (Equivalent of Code for Sustainable Homes Level 4 for Energy) and  
105 Litres/Person/Day internal water use (Equivalent of Code for Sustainable Homes Level 3/4) in 
the form of a design stage SAP calculations and a water efficiency calculator shall be submitted to 
the Local Planning Authority for its approval, unless an otherwise agreed timeframe is agreed in 
writing by the LPA. 
Reason: To ensure the development minimises its overall demand for resources and to 
demonstrate compliance with Policy CS20 of the Adopted Core Strategy (Amended 2015).

28. Energy & water [performance condition] 
Within 6 months of any part of the development first becoming occupied, written documentary 
evidence proving that the development has achieved at minimum 
19% improvement over 2013 Dwelling Emission Rate (DER)/ Target Emission Rate (TER) 
(Equivalent of Code for Sustainable Homes Level 4 for Energy) and 
105 Litres/Person/Day internal water use (Equivalent of Code for Sustainable Homes Level 3/4) in 
the form of final SAP calculations and water efficiency calculator and detailed documentary 
evidence confirming that the water appliances/fittings have been installed as specified shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for its approval. 
Reason: To ensure the development has minimised its overall demand for resources and to 
demonstrate compliance with Policy CS20 of the Adopted Core Strategy (Amended 2015).

29. Landscaping detailed plan [Pre-Commencement Condition]
Notwithstanding the submitted details before the commencement of any site works a detailed 
landscaping scheme and implementation timetable shall be submitted, which includes planting 
plans; written specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and 
grass establishment); schedules of plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed 
numbers/planting densities where appropriate; a landscape management scheme.
Any trees, shrubs, seeded or turfed areas which die, fail to establish, are removed or become 
damaged or diseased, within a period of 5 years from the date of planting shall be replaced by the 
Developer in the next planting season with others of a similar size and species unless the Local 
Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation. The Developer shall be responsible for 
any replacements for a period of 5 years from the date of planting. The approved hard and soft 
landscaping scheme (including parking) for the whole site shall be carried out prior to occupation of 
the building or during the first planting season following the full completion of building works, 

Page 121



 

whichever is sooner. The approved scheme implemented shall be maintained for a minimum 
period of 5 years following its complete provision.
Reason: To improve the appearance of the site and enhance the character of the development in 
the interests of visual amenity, to ensure that the development makes a positive contribution to the 
local environment and, in accordance with the duty required of the Local Planning Authority by 
Section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

Note the landscaping plans should:
 Not include excessive amounts of concrete of tarmac surfacing, block paviours should be 

used to the rear to define the private space.  Migratory materials will not be accepted 
where spillage onto the public highway is likely to result.  

 Identify that no surface water from the site shall run onto the public highway. Details shall 
be included explaining how this will be prevented.

 Boundary treatment will be needed to define the rear of the site. A low brick built wall 
should be used to do this. 

 Boundary treatment shall not include timber fencing adjacent to the public highway.

30. Noise & Vibration (internal noise source) (Pre-Commencement)
The use hereby approved shall not commence until sound insulation measures against internally 
generated noise and vibration have been provided in accordance with a scheme to be first 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The measures shall be 
thereafter retained as approved. 
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of existing nearby properties.

31. Noise & Vibration (external noise sources) (Pre-Commencement)
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, a scheme of measures to 
protect the occupiers of the development from external noise and vibration sources, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The measures shall be 
implemented as approved before the development first comes into occupation and thereafter 
retained as approved.
Reason: To protect the occupiers of the development from excessive external noise.

32.Sightlines [Performance Condition]
The boundary treatment of the site adjacent to Athelstan Road and the boundary treatment within 
2m of Athelstan Road, measured along the southern boundary, shall not exceed 600mm in height. 
The approved sightlines shall be provided before the occupation of the building and maintained in 
perpetuity.
Reason: To provide safe access to the development and to prevent congestion on the highway.

33. Waste Management [Pre Occupation Condition]
Prior to the occupation of the development hereby approved a waste management plan shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Once approved the occupation 
of the building shall be implemented in accordance with the approved waste management plan. 
The waste management plan shall detail the arrangements made to ensure that refuse is moved 
from the refuse store to the highway for collection purposes on a weekly or two weekly basis. At no 
time other than collection day shall refuse be stored on the public highway.
Reason: In the interest of visual and residential amenity.

Page 122



 

Application 18/02272/FUL             

POLICY CONTEXT

Core Strategy - (as amended 2015)

CS3 Promoting Successful Places
CS4 Housing Delivery
CS5 Housing Density
CS13 Fundamentals of Design
CS14 Historic Environment
CS15 Affordable Housing
CS16 Housing Mix and Type
CS18 Transport: Reduce-Manage-Invest
CS19 Car & Cycle Parking
CS20 Tackling and Adapting to Climate Change
CS22 Promoting Biodiversity and Protecting Habitats
CS25 The Delivery of Infrastructure and Developer Contributions

City of Southampton Local Plan Review – (as amended 2015)

SDP1   Quality of Development
SDP4 Development Access
SDP5  Parking
SDP7  Urban Design Context
SDP8 Urban Form and Public Space
SDP9  Scale, Massing & Appearance
SDP10 Safety & Security
SDP12 Landscape & Biodiversity
SDP13 Resource Conservation
SDP14 Renewable Energy
NE9 Protection / Improvement of Character
H2 Previously Developed Land
H7 The Residential Environment

Supplementary Planning Guidance 
Residential Design Guide (Approved - September 2006)
Planning Obligations (Adopted - September 2013)
Parking Standards SPD (September 2011)

Other Relevant Guidance
The National Planning Policy Framework (2012)
The Southampton Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule (September 2013)

Page 123

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 125

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 3



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 4



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Application 18/02272/FUL                                                             Appendix 5 

      Habitat Regulation Assessment (HRA)
Screening Matrix and Appropriate Assessment 

Statement

PLEASE NOTE:  Undertaking the HRA process is the responsibility of the decision 
maker as the Competent Authority for the purpose of the Habitats Regulations. 
However, it is the responsibility of the applicant to provide the Competent Authority 
with the information that they require for this purpose.

HRA 
completion 
date:

See Main Report

Application 
reference:

See Main Report

Application 
address:

See Main Report

Application 
description:

See Main Report

Lead 
Planning 
Officer:

See Main Report

Please note that all references in this assessment to the ‘Habitats Regulations’ refer to The 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017.

Stage 1 - details of the plan or project
European 
site 
potentially 
impacted by 
planning 
application, 
plan or 
project:

Solent and Southampton Special Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar site. 
Solent Maritime Special Area of Conservation (SAC). Collectively known as 
the Solent SPAs.
New Forest SAC, SPA and Ramsar site.

Is the 
planning 
application 
directly 
connected 
with or 
necessary to 
the 
management 
of the site (if 
yes, 

No. The development consists of an increase in residential dwellings, which 
is neither connected to nor necessary to the management of any European 
site.

Page 147

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 5



Applicant 
should have 
provided 
details)?

Are there any 
other projects 
or plans that 
together with 
the planning 
application 
being 
assessed 
could affect 
the site 
(Applicant to 
provide 
details to 
allow an ‘in 
combination’ 
effect to be 
assessed)?

Yes. All new housing development within 5.6km of the Solent SPAs is 
considered to contribute towards an impact on site integrity as a result of 
increased recreational disturbance in combination with other development in 
the Solent area.

Concerns have been raised by Natural England that residential development 
within Southampton, in combination with other development in the Solent 
area, could lead to an increase in recreational disturbance within the New 
Forest.  This has the potential to adversely impact site integrity of the New 
Forest SPA, SAC and Ramsar site.

The PUSH Spatial Position Statement 
(https://www.push.gov.uk/work/planning-and-infrastructure/push-position-
statement/) sets out the scale and distribution of housebuilding which is being 
planned for across South Hampshire up to 2034.

Stage 2 - HRA screening assessment
Screening under Regulation 63(1)(a) of the Habitats Regulations – The Applicant to provide 
evidence so that a judgement can be made as to whether there could be any potential 
significant impacts of the development on the integrity of the SPA/SAC/Ramsar.

Solent SPAs
The proposed development is within 5.6km of the collectively known European designated 
areas Solent SPAs/Ramsar sites. In accordance with advice from Natural England and as 
detailed in the Solent Recreation Mitigation Strategy, a net increase in housing development 
within 5.6km of the Solent SPAs is likely to result in impacts to the integrity of those sites 
through a consequent increase in recreational disturbance. 

Development within the 5.6km zone will increase the human population at the coast and thus 
increase the level of recreation and disturbance of bird species. The impacts of recreational 
disturbance (both at the site-scale and in combination with other development in the Solent 
area) are analogous to impacts from direct habitat loss as recreation can cause important 
habitat to be unavailable for use (the habitat is functionally lost, either permanently or for a 
defined period). Birds can be displaced by human recreational activities (terrestrial and 
water-based) and use valuable resources in finding suitable areas in which to rest and feed 
undisturbed. Ultimately, the impacts of recreational disturbance can be such that they affect 
the status and distribution of key bird species and therefore act against the stated 
conservation objectives of the European sites.

The New Forest
The New Forest National Park attracts a high number of visitors (13.3 million annually), and 
is notable in terms of its catchment, attracting a far higher proportion of tourists and non-
local visitors than similar areas such as the Thames Basin and Dorset Heaths. Research 
undertaken by Footprint Ecology, Sharp, J., Lowen, J. and Liley, D. (2008) Changing patterns 
of visitor numbers within the New Forest National Park, with particular reference to the New 

Page 148

https://www.push.gov.uk/work/planning-and-infrastructure/push-position-statement/
https://www.push.gov.uk/work/planning-and-infrastructure/push-position-statement/


Forest SPA. (Footprint Ecology.), indicates that 40% of visitors to the area are staying 
tourists, whilst 25% of visitors come from more than 5 miles (8km) away. The remaining 35% 
of visitors are local day visitors originating from within 5 miles (8km) of the boundary.

The report states that the estimated number of current annual visits to the New Forest is 
predicted to increase by 1.05 million annual visits by 2026 based on projections of housing 
development within 50km of the Forest, with around three quarters (764,000) of this total 
increase originating from within 10km of the boundary (which includes Southampton). 

Residential development has the potential to indirectly alter the structure and function of the 
habitats of the New Forest SAC, SPA and Ramsar site breeding populations of nightjar, 
woodlark and Dartford warbler through disturbance from increased human and/or dog 
activity.  The precise scale of the potential impact is currently uncertain however, the impacts 
of recreational disturbance can be such that they affect the breeding success of the 
designated bird species and therefore act against the stated conservation objectives of the 
European sites.  

Page 149



Stage 3 - Appropriate Assessment
Appropriate Assessment under Regulation 63(1) - if there are any potential significant 
impacts, the applicant must provide evidence showing avoidance and/or mitigation 
measures to allow an Assessment to be made.  The Applicant must also provide details 
which demonstrate any long term management, maintenance and funding of any solution.

Solent SPAs
The project being assessed would result in a net increase of dwellings within 5.6km of the 
Solent SPAs and in accordance with the findings of the Solent Recreation Mitigation 
Strategy, a permanent significant effect on the Solent SPAs due to increase in recreational 
disturbance as a result of the new development, is likely. This is contrary to policy CS 22 - 
Promoting Biodiversity and Protecting Habitats, of the Southampton Core Strategy Partial 
Review, which states that, 

Within Southampton the Council will promote biodiversity through:
1. Ensuring development does not adversely affect the integrity of international 
designations, and the necessary mitigation measures are provided; or the development 
otherwise meets the Habitats Directive; 

In line with Policy CS22, in order to lawfully be permitted, the development will need to 
include a package of avoidance and mitigation measures.

Southampton City Council formally adopted the Solent Recreation Mitigation Strategy 
(SRMP) in March 2018. The SRMP provides a strategic solution to ensure the requirements 
of the Habitats Regulations are met with regard to the in-combination effects of increased 
recreational pressure on the Solent SPAs arising from new residential development. This 
strategy represents a partnership approach to the issue which has been endorsed by Natural 
England.

As set out in the Solent Recreation Mitigation 
Strategy, an appropriate scale of mitigation for this 
scheme would be:

Therefore, in order to deliver the an adequate level of mitigation the proposed development 
will need to provide a financial contribution, in accordance with the table above, to mitigate 
the likely impacts. 

A legal agreement, agreed prior to the granting of planning permission, will be necessary to 
secure the mitigation package. Without the security of the mitigation being provided through 
a legal agreement, a significant effect would remain likely. Providing such a legal agreement 
is secured through the planning process, the proposed development will not affect the status 
and distribution of key bird species and therefore act against the stated conservation 
objectives of the European sites.

New Forest

Size of Unit Scale of Mitigation 
per Unit

1 Bedroom £337.00
2 Bedroom £487.00
3 Bedroom £637.00
4 Bedroom £749.00
5 Bedroom £880.00

Page 150



The project being assessed would result in a net increase in dwellings within easy travelling 
distance of the New Forest and a permanent significant effect on the New Forest SAC, SPA 
and Ramsar, due to an increase in recreational disturbance as a result of the new 
development, is likely. This is contrary to policy CS 22 - Promoting Biodiversity and 
Protecting Habitats, of the Southampton Core Strategy Partial Review, which states that, 

Within Southampton the Council will promote biodiversity through:
1. Ensuring development does not adversely affect the integrity of international 
designations, and the necessary mitigation measures are provided; or the development 
otherwise meets the Habitats Directive; 

In line with Policy CS22, in order to lawfully be permitted, the development will need to 
include a package of avoidance and mitigation measures.

At present, there is no scheme of mitigation addressing impacts on the New Forest 
designated sites, although, work is underway to develop one.  In the absence of an agreed 
scheme of mitigation, the City Council has undertaken to ring fence 5% of CIL contributions 
to fund footpath improvement works within suitable semi-natural sites within Southampton. 
These improved facilities will provide alternative dog walking areas for new residents.

The proposed development will generate a CIL contribution and the City Council will ring 
fence 5% of the overall sum, to fund improvements to footpaths within the greenways and 
other semi-natural greenspaces.

Stage 4 – Summary of the Appropriate Assessment (To be carried out by the 
Competent Authority (the local planning authority) in liaison with Natural England
In conclusion, the application will have a likely significant effect in the absence of avoidance 
and mitigation measures on the above European and Internationally protected sites.  The 
authority has concluded that the adverse effects arising from the proposal are wholly 
consistent with, and inclusive of the effects detailed in the Solent Recreation Mitigation 
Strategy. 

The authority’s assessment is that the application coupled with the contribution towards the 
SRMS secured by way of legal agreement complies with this strategy and that it can 
therefore be concluded that there will be no adverse effect on the integrity of the designated 
sites identified above. 

In the absence of an agreed mitigation scheme for impacts on the New Forest designated 
sites Southampton City Council has adopted a precautionary approach and ring fenced 5% 
of CIL contributions to provide alternative recreation routes within the city.

This represents the authority’s Appropriate Assessment as Competent Authority in 
accordance with requirements under Regulation 63 of the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2017, Article 6 (3) of the Habitats Directive and having due regard to 
its duties under Section 40(1) of the NERC Act 2006 to the purpose of conserving 
biodiversity. Consideration of the Ramsar site/s is a matter of government policy set out in 
the National Planning Policy Framework 2012.
 

Natural England Officer: Becky Aziz (email 20/08/2018)

Summary of Natural England’s comments: 
Where the necessary avoidance and mitigation measures are limited to collecting a funding 
contribution that is in line with an agreed strategic approach for the mitigation of impacts on 

Page 151



European Sites then, provided no other adverse impacts are identified by your authority’s 
appropriate assessment, your authority may be assured that Natural England agrees that 
the Appropriate Assessment can conclude that there will be no adverse effect on the integrity 
of the European Sites. In such cases Natural England will not require a Regulation 63 
appropriate assessment consultation.

Page 152



   
 

Paul Basham Associates  1 020.0293/PTN/4 

Project Name: Bitterne Road West, Southampton 

Document Reference: 020.0293/PTN/4 

Document Name: Parking Technical Note 

Prepared By: Harry Cherrill (February 2019) 

Checked By: Jon Huggett (February 2019) 

Approved By: Jon Huggett (February 2019) 

 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 This Parking Technical Note (PTN) has been prepared by Paul Basham Associates to support the 

full planning application to ‘erect three storey building (with basement) to provide replacement 

commercial space at basement/ground floor, either within Class A1 or dental surgery only within 

Class D1, with 1 No. three bedroom maisonette over, either within Class C3 or Class C4. 

Associated single vehicle servicing bay accessed from new dropped kerb to Athelstan Road. 

Integral bicycle parking and refuse storage, following demolition of existing retail premises’ 

(reference: 18/02272/FUL), at 182-184 Bitterne Road West, Southampton. The site location is 

demonstrated in Figure 1. 

 

 
Figure 1: Site Location 

 
1.2 Pre-application discussions with Southampton City Council (SCC) were undertaken in April 2017 

to discuss the potential redevelopment of the site. The pre-application response identified the 

requirement for a parking survey to be undertaken on the surrounding road network to establish 

the potential extent of parking impact from the development. 

 

Page 153

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 6



   
 

Paul Basham Associates  2 020.0293/PTN/4 

1.3 A previous full application for the: ‘Erection of a 3 storey building to provide a ground floor retail 

unit and 2x2 bed flats on upper floors with associated parking and cycle/refuse storage, following 

demolition of existing building at 182-184 Bitterne Road West Southampton SO18 1BE’ 

(reference: 18/00358/FUL) was refused in July 2018. Reasoning for the application refusal 

included an ‘Incomplete Car Parking Survey’ with the decision notice stating: ‘The car parking 

survey information provided is deemed to be insufficient and fails to satisfactorily demonstrate 

that the amount of parking provided will be sufficient to serve this mixed use development’. 

 
1.4 This PTN directly addresses this reason for refusal and justifies nil car parking on site for 

residents. The scope of this PTN therefore considers site accessibility, details of the proposed 

development and a detailed car parking survey in accordance with the Lambeth methodology 

(using SCC’s specific requirements).  

 
1.5 A letter addressing highway safety matters at the propsoed site (reference 020.0293/HL/JH) was 

also prepared concluding that the proposed development and revised access arrangements 

would result in a betterment to highway safety over the existing situation.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 154



   
 

Paul Basham Associates  3 020.0293/PTN/4 

2. SITE ACCESSIBILITY 

2.1 The site is currently occupied by a single storey commercial unit (Use Class A1), which was 

formerly in use as ‘A Head of Time’ hair salon. The site is located approximately 4km east of 

Southampton City Centre and 1km west of Bitterne’s Local Centre and is free-standing; bordered 

by local retail units and residential development to the east, residential development to the 

south, Athelstan Road and local retail units to the west and Bitterne Road West (A3024) to the 

north.  

 
2.2 The site is located within walking distance of a number of local facilities and amenities, and with 

Bitterne’s local centre providing a range of local shops and services, located 1km away, the site 

provides a good opportunity to encourage walking and cycling. Furthermore, a dental surgery, 

which would be open to NHS patients, is a use being sought at the application site, a facility not 

found in the direct vicinity of the site. The local facilities within the vicinity of the site including 

their associated walking and cycling distances are summarised within Table 1.  

 
Amenity Approximate Distance Walking Time (minutes) Cycling Time (minutes) 

Bus Stop (eastbound) 90m 1 <1 

Pub/Restaurant 100m 1 <1 

Food Store 100m 1 <1 

Library  100m 1 <1 

Railway Station 100m 1 <1 

Bus Stop (westbound) 320m 3 1 

Petrol Station 320m 3 1 

Primary School 640m 8 4 

Supermarket 950m 10 5 

Post Office 950m 10 5 

Doctors Surgery 950m 10 5 

Bank 950m 10 5 

Dentist 1.9km 23 11 

Secondary School 2.2km 29 14 

Table 1: Proximity to Local Amenities 

 
Bus Services 

2.3 The closest bus stops to the site (as detailed in Table 1) are situated 90m and 320m to the east 

of the site on Bitterne Road West. Being a key route into the city centre, both stops are well 

frequented by a number of services providing connections to a range of destinations including 

Bitterne’s Local Centre, Southampton City Centre, Hedge End, Barton Peveril College, Hamble, 

Eastleigh, Bishops Waltham and more. Journeys to Bitterne’s Local Centre take 5 minutes, whilst 

journeys to Southampton City Centre take 10 minutes.  

 

 

 

Page 155



   
 

Paul Basham Associates  4 020.0293/PTN/4 

Rail Services 

2.4 Bitterne Railway Station is situated just 100m (1 minute walk) to the north of the proposed site 

and provides frequent (hourly) services to both Southampton City Centre and Portsmouth City 

Centre. A journey to Southampton takes approximately 10 minutes, whilst a journey to 

Portsmouth takes approximately 50 minutes.  

 
2.5 The station is equipped with 8 cycle storage spaces and 10 car parking spaces. 

 

Summary 

2.6 Overall, the site is situated within an accessible location, on the fringes of Southampton City 

Centre, and on a high frequency bus corridor and within a 1 minute walk of Bitterne Railway 

Station. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 156



   
 

Paul Basham Associates  5 020.0293/PTN/4 

3. PARKING SURVEY REQUIREMENTS 

3.1  Lambeth Council have specific requirements for parking surveys within the Borough. The 

requirements detailed in the ‘Lambeth Council Parking Survey Guidance Note’ are generally 

regarded as the most detailed, and the ‘Lambeth Style Parking Survey Methodology (2012)’ is 

therefore used as general guidance for most highway authority parking surveys. 

Correspondence with the Highways Development Management Officers of Southampton City 

Council (see Appendix A) has confirmed that they have a preferred parking survey methodology 

although it is yet to be fully adopt this method via a process of public consultation as an 

amendment to its Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document (September 2011)." 

Relevant requirements of the Lambeth model parking survey are as follows: 

 

• An area of 200m (or a 2-minute walk) around a site; 

• The survey should be undertaken when the highest number of residents are at home; 

generally late at night during the week; * 

• Town centre locations; surveys should be taken Monday- Wednesday only; 

• If the site lies adjacent to, but not in, a CPZ then all roads in that CPZ should be excluded; 

• Should not be undertaken in weeks that include Public Holidays and school holidays.  

 

3.2 The Lambeth Council Parking Survey Guidance Note goes on to state that the following 

information should be included in the survey results, to be submitted to the Council:  

 

• The date and time of the survey; 

• A description of the area noting any significant land uses in the vicinity of the site that may 

affect parking within the survey area (e.g. churches, restaurants, bars and clubs, train 

stations, hospitals, large offices, town centres etc.); 

• Any unusual observations e.g. suspended parking bays, spaces out of use because of road 

works or presence of skips etc.; 

• A drawing showing the site location and extent of the survey area. All other parking and 

waiting restrictions such as double yellow lines and double red lines, bus lay-bys, kerb 

buildouts, and crossovers (vehicular accesses) etc. should also be shown on the plan; 

• The number of cars parked on each road within the survey area on each night should be 

counted and recorded in a table; 

• Photographs of the parking conditions in the survey area can be provided to back up the 

results. 

 

Page 157



   
 

Paul Basham Associates  6 020.0293/PTN/4 

3.3  The Lambeth methodology states the locations where cars can legally park overnight should 

also be identified.  

 

Southampton Requirements 

3.4 As detailed above SCC highway officers have identified a requirement for slight variations 

in the Lambeth methodology. These have been outlined below: 

 

• Two surveys should be undertaken on ‘normal days’, ideally one weekday and one weekend 

day during peak demand, which is between 22:00 and 06:00; 

• The survey area should cover a 250m radius around the site; 

• Parking spaces should measure 6m, with 5m acceptable where these is free access at one 

end; 

• A plan should be provided showing obstructions to parking such as dropped kerbs, double 

yellows and any parking restrictions; 

• The information should be summarised in a report clearly setting out the results and 

implications for the scheme.  

 

*The standards also state, “A snapshot survey between the hours of 0030-0530 should be 

undertaken on two separate weekday nights (i.e. Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday or Thursday)”.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 158



   
 

Paul Basham Associates  7 020.0293/PTN/4 

4.   EXTENT OF PARKING SURVEYS 

4.1 A formal pre-application response from SCC identified the requirement for a parking survey to 

be undertaken around the site to establish the proposed development’s impact on the existing 

parking stock. Therefore, the following section outlines the methodology undertaken for the 

survey, with Chapter 5 detailing the results.  

 
4.2      Using the requirements of SCC, a 250m radius was identified around the site. Within this radius, 

250m along each road was measured, taking into account the roads on which people are most 

likely to walk (for example, the surveys have been taken along Athelstan Road to the junction 

with Cross Road, as it is unlikely that residents would ‘stop’ at the 250m radius if a parking space 

was identified further away).  

 
4.3       As parking along the length of Bitterne Road West is prohibited by double yellow lines, this road 

has been discounted. A stretch of Macnaghten Road has also been discounted due to a TRO 

which restricts parking, as well as a small car park which is for use by visitors to Bitterne Railway 

Station. 

 
4.4    In addition, the site lies close to, but not within, Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) 13. As 

demonstrated in Figure 2, the CPZ covers Quayside Road and Chafen Road which would have 

otherwise been included within the survey area.  

 

 
Figure 2: Area Covered by CPZ 13 

 
4.5     Roads within a 250m radius of the site which have been surveyed (taking the above into account) 

are demonstrated in Figure 3.  

 

Page 159



   
 

Paul Basham Associates  8 020.0293/PTN/4 

 
Figure 3: Extent of Parking Surveys. 

 

4.6     The area covered by the survey therefore includes Athelstan Road, Garfield Road, Macnaghten 

Road (up to the junction with Whitworth Road), Bullar Road (for 250m from the junction with 

Bitterne Road West) and Corbett Road (up to the junction with Coleson Road).  

 
4.7    Surveys were undertaken in accordance with Southampton City Council’s amended, yet 

unadopted formally via any democratic process requirements (see Appendix A) and were 

undertaken at the following times:  

 

• Sunday 3rd February 2019 @ 22.00 

• Tuesday 5th February 2019 @ 22:00 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 160



   
 

Paul Basham Associates  9 020.0293/PTN/4 

4.8      The survey date was specifically chosen because it represented a ‘normal’ weekend day and 

weekday; outside of school holiday periods and no events were identified in the surrounding 

area. Both surveys exhibited fairly poor weather conditions (constant light drizzle/ rain 

throughout), with average temperatures. No roadworks were identified along any of the 

surrounding local road network. 

 
4.9      Where bays are not individually shown measurements of 6m in length (the standard required 

for parallel parking bays) have been taken to ensure a robust assessment.  

 
4.10     Plans to demonstrate any TROs and parking restrictions within the survey area are demonstrated 

in Figure 4 and 5. For the purpose of assessing the total number of spaces available, driveways 

have also been taken into account within the survey itself. Plans included in Appendix B further 

demonstrate the restrictions along with details on available spaces. 

 

 
Figure 4: TROs in the Local Area – South of the Development Site (Source: Google Maps) 

 
 

 

Page 161



   
 

Paul Basham Associates  10 020.0293/PTN/4 

 
Figure 5: TROs in the Local Area – North of the Development Site (Source: Google Maps) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 162



   
 

Paul Basham Associates  11 020.0293/PTN/4 

5. PARKING SURVEY RESULTS 

Sunday 3rd February @ 22:00 

5.1      The Sunday evening survey results are summarised in Table 2. 

 

Road Location TIME 
Number of 

Spaces Available 
exc Disabled 

Number of 
spaces 

occupied 

Number of 
spaces 
empty 

ATHELSTAN 
RD 

Bitterne Rd W to Garfield Rd West Side 22:00 0 0 0 

Bitterne Rd W to Garfield Rd East Side 22:00 0 0 0 

Garfield Rd to southern extent West Side 22:00 0 0 0 

Garfield Rd to southern extent East Side 22:00 7 7 0 

Garfield Rd 
Athelstan Rd to eastern extent North Side 22:00 8 8 0 

Athelstan Rd to eastern extent South Side 22:00 12 10 2 

A3024 W 
Athelstan Rd to limit North Side 22:00 0 0 0 

Athelstan Rd to limit South Side 22:00 0 0 0 

A3024 E 
Athelstan Rd to Midanbury Lane North Side 22:00 0 0 0 

Athelstan Rd to Midanbury Lane South Side 22:00 0 0 0 

Cobbett Rd 

A3024 to A3035 North Side 22:00 0 0 0 

A3024 to A3035 South Side 22:00 0 0 0 

North eastern arm West Side 22:00 0 0 0 

North eastern arm East Side 22:00 7 7 0 

Bullar Rd 

A3024 to Cobbett Rd West Side 22:00 0 0 0 

A3024 to Cobbett Rd East Side 22:00 0 0 0 

Cobbett Rd to No.73 West Side 22:00 0 0 0 

Cobbett Rd to No.73 East Side 22:00 4 4 0 

Macnaughten 
Rd 

Bullar Rd southern arm North Side 22:00 7 4 3 

Bullar Rd southern arm South Side 22:00 12 9 3 

Southern arm to north of 
Whitworth Rd 

NW Side 22:00 11 10 1 

Southern arm to north of 
Whitworth Rd 

SE Side 22:00 14 14 0 

Whitworth Rd 
Macnaughten Rd to extent NE Side 22:00 0 0 0 

Macnaughten Rd to extent SW Side 22:00 14 14 0 

TOTALS 96 87 9 

OCCUPANCY LEVEL 90.6% 

Table 2: Sunday Evening Survey Summary 
 

5.2       A plan of the results demonstrating available and occupied spaces during the survey is attached 

as Appendix C. Photographs attached in Appendix D visually demonstrate available capacity 

along the roads during the survey period. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 163



   
 

Paul Basham Associates  12 020.0293/PTN/4 

Tuesday 5th February @ 22:00 

5.3      The Tuesday evening survey results are summarised in Table 3. 

 

Road Location TIME 

Number of 
Spaces 

Available exc 
Disabled 

Number of 
spaces 

occupied 

Number of 
spaces 
empty 

ATHELSTAN 
RD 

Bitterne Rd W to Garfield Rd West Side 22:00 0 0 0 

Bitterne Rd W to Garfield Rd East Side 22:00 0 0 0 

Garfield Rd to southern extent West Side 22:00 0 0 0 

Garfield Rd to southern extent East Side 22:00 7 7 0 

Garfield Rd 
Athelstan Rd to eastern extent North Side 22:00 8 8 0 

Athelstan Rd to eastern extent South Side 22:00 12 11 1 

A3024 W 
Athelstan Rd to limit North Side 22:00 0 0 0 

Athelstan Rd to limit South Side 22:00 0 0 0 

A3024 E 
Athelstan Rd to Midanbury Lane North Side 22:00 0 0 0 

Athelstan Rd to Midanbury Lane South Side 22:00 0 0 0 

Cobbett Rd 

A3024 to A3035 North Side 22:00 0 0 0 

A3024 to A3035 South Side 22:00 0 0 0 

North eastern arm West Side 22:00 0 0 0 

North eastern arm East Side 22:00 7 7 0 

Bullar Rd 

A3024 to Cobbett Rd West Side 22:00 0 0 0 

A3024 to Cobbett Rd East Side 22:00 0 0 0 

Cobbett Rd to No.73 West Side 22:00 0 0 0 

Cobbett Rd to No.73 East Side 22:00 4 4 0 

Macnaughton 
Rd 

Bullar Rd to bend North Side 22:00 7 5 2 

Bullar Rd to bend South Side 22:00 12 10 2 

Southern arm to north of 
Whitworth Rd 

NW Side 22:00 11 10 1 

Southern arm to north of 
Whitworth Rd 

SE Side 22:00 14 14 0 

Whitworth Rd 
Macnaughton Rd to extent NE Side 22:00 0 0 0 

Macnaughton Rd to extent SW Side 22:00 14 14 0 

TOTALS 96 90 6 

OCCUPANCY LEVEL 93.8% 

Table 3: Tuesday Evening Survey Summary 

 

5.4    A plan of the results demonstrating available and occupied spaces during the survey is 

attached as Appendix E. Photographs attached in Appendix F visually demonstrate available 

capacity along the roads during the survey period. 

 
Summary of Parking Surveys 

5.5      The results of the two surveys demonstrate that the roads within 250m of the development site 

have available capacity during peak hours, with a minimum available capacity of 6 spaces during 

the Tuesday evening survey and 9 spaces during the Sunday evening survey. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 164



   
 

Paul Basham Associates  13 020.0293/PTN/4 

5.6      It should be noted however, The Station pub located opposite the proposed development and 

within the parking survey extent was open during the car parking surveys, with the pub open 

12:00-23:00 Sundays and 12:00 – 00:00 Tuesdays. Whilst there is limited parking to the rear of 

the pub, it is expected most vehicles utilise on street parking within the pub’s vicinity, therefore 

impacting the parking stock available during the surveys.  

 
 

5.7      As part of the application 18/00358/FUL, car parking surveys were undertaken in 2017 on 

Tuesday 27th June at 20:00 and Wednesday 28th June at 06:30 and presented in Paul Basham 

Associates’ previously submitted Parking Technical Note (ref: 020.0293.PTN1). Even though the 

information provided from the surveys was deemed to be outside of SCC’s parking survey 

requirements, the results do demonstrate the available parking stock within 250m walking 

distance of the proposed development during periods when most are expected to be home but 

also when the pub is closed or quieter. These survey results detail that 24 spaces were available 

in the evening survey and 28 available in the morning.  

 

Car Ownership- 2011 Census Data 

5.8       In addition to conducting parking surveys and further observations within the immediate vicinity 

of the site, existing residential parking demand in terms of number of cars per household has 

been examined in more detail, in order to understand true potential demand for this specific 

ward.  

 

5.9      Using the ‘Car or Van Availability’ Dataset from the 2011 Census for the Peartree Ward. Figure 6 

demonstrates the number of cars owned by each household within the ward.  

 
 

Page 165



   
 

Paul Basham Associates  14 020.0293/PTN/4 

 
Figure 6: Number of Cars or Vans Owned by Residents in Peartree Ward 

 
 

5.10     As demonstrated in Figure 6, 23% of existing households own no cars within the ward, and in 

comparison, just 2% of households own 4 or more cars. The majority (45% of households) own 

one car).  

 
Southampton City Council Parking Requirements 

5.11  Southampton’s Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 2011 provides 

maximum standards for A1 retail, D1 dental surgery and general residential land use. The 

maximum standards are presented in Table 4.  

 
Unit Type SCC Maximum Parking Standard SCC Maximum Parking Requirement 

A1 Retail (60.3m2) 1 space per 20m2 3 spaces 

D1 Dental Surgery (60.3m2) 3 spaces per consulting room 3 spaces 

C3 Residential (1 unit) 2 spaces per 3 bedroom unit 2 spaces 

Table 4: SCC’s Parking Standards and maximum Requirements 

 
5.12   As demonstrated in Table 4, a maximum of 5 spaces should be provided to serve the proposed 

development.  

 
5.13    Given that a minimum of 6 available car parking spaces were found to be located within a 250m 

radius of the site, it is demonstrated that the surrounding road network is able to accommodate 

a potential maximum demand of 5 vehicles. 

 
5.14    In addition, the retail unit/dental surgery will be provided with an on-site delivery/ service area, 

to ensure that delivery/ service vehicles are able to be accommodated off the carriageway 

without impacting the surrounding road network. 

23%

45%

24%

6%2%

Peartree Ward
Car and Van Ownership (2011)

No cars or vans in household 1 car or van in household

2 cars or vans in household 3 cars or vans in household

4 or more cars or vans in household

Page 166



   
 

Paul Basham Associates  15 020.0293/PTN/4 

 
5.15   It should also be noted that the dental surgery will only be open during the day. Therefore, 

potential parking demand from the ground floor element of the site will be at times when the 

local road network has a higher parking capacity when compared to the parking survey times. 

This results in a potential car parking requirement of only 2 spaces from the residential unit 

during the evening and at times of peak parking demand. 

 
  

Page 167



   
 

Paul Basham Associates  16 020.0293/PTN/4 

6. CONCLUSION 

6.1      The Parking Technical Note has been prepared by Paul Basham Associates to support a planning 

application for a small retail unit and a three bedroom residential flat on land at the existing ‘A 

Head of Time’ hair salon at 182-184 Bitterne Road West, Southampton. 

 
6.2      Parking surveys were undertaken within a 250m radius of the site on Sunday 3rd February 2019 

at 22:00 and Tuesday 5th February 2019 at 22:00, in accordance with the Lambeth Methodology 

and Southampton City Council’s adjusted Parking Survey requirements.  

 
6.3       The results of the surveys demonstrate that a minimum of 6 spaces were available within 250m 

of the site. 

 
6.4   Southampton City Council’s Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document (2011) 

demonstrates that, for this particular site, a maximum of 5 car parking spaces should be 

provided. Whilst the development provides just one space, the parking surveys demonstrate 

that there is sufficient available capacity to accommodate a potential maximum demand of 5 

vehicles. 

 
6.5   We would therefore encourage Southampton City Council to look favourably upon this 

development from a highway’s perspective following the submission of the letter addressing 

highway safety matters and this Parking Technical Note. 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 168



Bitterne Road West, Southampton  Paul Basham Associates Ltd 

Parking Technical Note  Report No. 020.0293/PTN/4 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix A 

Page 169



REQUIREMENTS OF PARKING SURVEYS 

 

 

Parking surveys are required to accompany some planning applications when on site parking does 

not comply with SCC guidance within the Parking Standards SPD dated September 2011. The 

purpose of the survey is to demonstrate the kerbside parking pressure in the near vicinity of the 

application site during times of greatest demand by residents. The survey may cover areas where 

there is already a controlled parking restriction, it is necessary to include these areas as these 

restrictions are time limited. 

 

 

Standard information for each survey. 

To help inform each survey certain information helps to explain the accessibility of the area to 

regularly needed facilities for households or accommodation including public transport. The 

following list of questions need to be answered, which include information about the survey. 

• At what time(s) was the survey undertaken 

• What was the date(s) of the survey 

• What day of the week was the survey 

• From the 2011 census, what is the average car ownership for this area 

• How far away is the nearest bus stop (both directions) 

• How many buses are accessible in daytime hours from this stop (both directions) 

• How far away is the nearest convenience store/shop 

• How far away are the nearest primary and secondary schools 

• How far away is the nearest doctors surgery 

• How far away is the nearest dentist surgery 

 

 

 

Methodology 

Taking the application site as the centre, draw a 200m radius circle around the site on a 1:1000 scale 

plan. (In some cases you may be advised that this is increased). Within this circle is the area you 

need to survey. It is necessary to conduct 2 surveys on ‘normal days’, outside of school holiday times 

and avoiding bank holidays etc. Ideally one week day and one week end day would be best, and the 

survey should be carried out during peak demand, which generally is between 10pm and 6am. 

Occasionally we may ask for other times where the site surroundings may have a more unusual 

pattern of demand for on street parking. 

The plan will need to clearly identify areas of available parking, whilst parked areas, dropped kerbs 

and parking restrictions also need to be clearly marked to provide a clear picture of how much 

kerbside parking space was available at the time of the survey. 

Page 170



Parking spaces need to be 6m long to qualify as a usable space, unless there is clear open space to 

one end of this parking space, created by a dropped kerb or double yellow lines or similar, and then 

these spaces need to be 5m long. By colour coding your plan you should be able to create a clear 

picture of the parking demand, a useful legend could be as follows: 

• Double yellow lines marked as yellow line 

• Single yellow lines marked as dashed yellow line 

• Areas covered by parking controls shaded blue. 

• Dropped kerb locations marked with a  brown line. 

• Occupied parking spaces marked with red rectangular blocks 6m long x 2m wide. 

• Available parking spaces marked with green rectangular blocks 6m long x 2m wide. 

• Properties with on plot parking hatched purple. 

• Vehicles parked illegally should be marked as  black 6m long x 2m wide blocks 

• Indicate carriageway widths of each road within the survey area 

The plan should be accompanied with a written summary of the findings of the survey listed by 

street, stating the number of parking spaces available for use on the street, and the number of 

unoccupied or vacant spaces, and then expressing this ratio as a percentage of available space. 

You may wish to include photographs to support your survey and these could help confirm your 

results, however this is not an obligation. The photographs could be numbered and a dot marked on 

the plan with the corresponding number to identify where each photograph was taken from, with an 

arrow to show the direction in which the photograph was taken. 

The information you supply may be used as evidence at Planning and Rights of Way Panel to 

demonstrate the parking demand in the near vicinity of your site, and therefore it is important to 

ensure that it is clear and easily understood to avoid any confusion. 

If the information is not clearly provided this may result in a refusal of planning consent based on 

the reason of inadequate information being supplied. 

 

January 2016 

Page 171



Bitterne Road West, Southampton  Paul Basham Associates Ltd 

Parking Technical Note  Report No. 020.0293/PTN/4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix B 

Page 172



BITTERNE RD WEST SOUTHAMPTON – PARKING SURVEY INVENTORY 

 

 

P
age 173



 

P
age 174



Bitterne Road West, Southampton  Paul Basham Associates Ltd 

Parking Technical Note  Report No. 020.0293/PTN/4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix C 

Page 175



BITTERNE RD WEST SOUTHAMPTON – PARKING SURVEY RESULTS 3 FEB 2019 

 

 

OCCUPIED SPACES 

FREE SPACES 

P
age 176



 

P
age 177



Bitterne Road West, Southampton  Paul Basham Associates Ltd 

Parking Technical Note  Report No. 020.0293/PTN/4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix D 

Page 178



BITTERNE AREA PARKING SURVEY PHOTOS 

SUN 3 FEB 2019 

 

 

GARFIELD RD EASTERN FREE SPACE 

GARFIELD RD WESTERN FREE SPACE 

Page 179



MACNAUGHTON RD NORTHERN SPACES 

MACNAUGHTON RD SOUTHERN SPACES 

Page 180



 

MACNAUGHTON RD N/W SPACE 

Page 181



Bitterne Road West, Southampton  Paul Basham Associates Ltd 

Parking Technical Note  Report No. 020.0293/PTN/4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix E 

Page 182



BITTERNE RD WEST SOUTHAMPTON – PARKING SURVEY RESULTS 5 FEB 2019 

 

 

OCCUPIED SPACES 

FREE SPACES 

P
age 183



 

P
age 184



Bitterne Road West, Southampton  Paul Basham Associates Ltd 

Parking Technical Note  Report No. 020.0293/PTN/4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix F 

Page 185



BITTERNE AREA PARKING SURVEY PHOTOS 

TUES 5 FEB 2019 

 

 

 

GARFIELD RD 

MACNAUGHTON RD NORTH SIDE SPACES 

Page 186



 

 

 

MACNAUGHTON RD SOUTHERN SIDE SPACE 

MACNAUGHTON RD WESTERN SIDE SPACE 

NORTH OF BEND 

Page 187



This page is intentionally left blank



Application 18/02272/FUL                                                             Appendix 7 

HMO Threshold test results.

182 – 184 Bitterne Road West – Checklist March 2019

# Counted Reside
ntial 
Use

HMO 
Licenc
ing

Council Tax 
(evidence of 
HMO 
occupation)?

Electoral
Register (evidence of 
HMO occupation)?

Relevant Planning History

Bitterne Road West
182 
– 
184

Yes C4   

180 No – Ground 
floor 
commercial, 
upper floors 1 x 
residential flat.

C3 None None None None

186 No - 
Commercial

C3 None None None None

186a No – 
Commercial 

C3 None None None None

186b C3 None None None

188 No – 2 x flats. C3 None None None None

190 No C3 None None None 980707/E Change of use to 
2 x 2 bed houses.

Page 189

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 7



192 No C3 None None None 971347/E. Change of use of 
ground floor to residential - 

194 No C3 None None None None

Athelstan Road
2 No – Ground 

floor 
commercial, 
upper floors 1 x 
residential flat.

C3 None None None None

4 No – Converted 
to 2 flats

C3 None None None 1610/W4 (1981) & 
891440/W (1989) Conv into 
2 flats REFUSED

6 No - Ground 
floor commercial 
and 3 flats on 
upper floors.

C3 None None None None

8 No – Ground 
floor 
commercial, 
upper floors 1 x 
residential flat.

C3 None None None None

10 No – Converted 
to 2 flats.

C3 None None None 1476/E18

12 No – Converted 
to 4 flats.

C3 None None None 890017/E. Change of use of 
property to form 4 flats

1 Yes C3 None None None None

Council tax records from January 2019

Total number of properties: 16

Total number of counted properties (excluding those listed above which are discounted on the 
basis that they are not defined as family dwelling houses, as they are flats with less than 3 
bedrooms): 2

Total number of existing HMOs: 0

Existing % of residential properties that are HMOs within radius (0/2) 0% 

Proposed % of residential properties that are HMOs within radius (1/2) 50%

Page 190



Page 191

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 8



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Planning and Rights of Way Panel 12/03/2019

Planning Application Report of the Service Lead - Infrastructure, Planning & Development

Application address: Parker House, Land West of John Thornycroft Road.

Proposed development: Proposed change of use of part of the building from D2 Leisure Use to 
B8 Storage and the creation of mezzanine floor space.

Application 
number:

18/02228/FUL Application type: FUL

Case officer: Mat Pidgeon Public speaking 
time:

5 minutes

Last date for 
determination:

01.02.2019 Ward: Woolston

Reason for Panel 
Referral:

Departure from the 
Development Plan with 
3 or more objections.

Ward Councillors: Cllr Blatchford
Cllr Hammond
Cllr Payne

Applicant: Crest Nicholson Operations Limited Agent: Savills

Recommendation Summary Conditionally approve

Community Infrastructure Levy Liable Not applicable

Reason for granting Permission

Notwithstanding the application constitutes a departure from the Development Plan 'saved' Policy 
MSA18 of the City of Southampton Local Plan Review (Amended 2015) which allocates the site for 
employment uses B1, B2, leisure and community uses, the proposal is compliant with the wider 
objectives of the Development Plan, set out below. Currently, it is accepted that the proposed 
conversion is restricted to a small area at the back of the unit, therefore leaving an acceptable sized 
unit at the front for a more active use, it is considered that the change of use to restricted B8 is 
permissible. In addition, other material considerations including amenity, parking, health and 
economic benefits, the previous vacancy of the unit and the importance of retaining employment 
within the city, outweigh compliance with this policy and are not judged to have sufficient weight to 
justify a refusal of the application, and where applicable conditions have been applied in order to 
satisfy these matters. The scheme is therefore judged to be in accordance with Section 38(6) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and thus planning permission should therefore be 
granted.  In reaching this decision the Local Planning Authority offered a pre-application planning 
service and has sought to work with the applicant in a positive and proactive manner as required by 
paragraphs 39-42 and 46 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). Policies – SDP1, SDP5, 
SDP16 and MSA18 of the City of Southampton Local Plan Review (Amended 2015). 

Appendix attached
1 Development Plan Policies

Recommendation in Full
Conditionally approve

1. The site and its context

Page 193

Agenda Item 8



 
1.1 Part of the former Vosper Thornycroft industrial site. The site was proposed to become a 

foodstore as part of the extant planning permission for Phase 3 of the Centenary Quay 
scheme, which was granted permission on 12 December 2012 (Ref: 12/00474/FUL). 
However, following the foodstore operator’s decision not to fit out the unit, and no further 
interest from alternative operators, Crest sought alternative uses for this unit. The unit sits 
at the base of a residential scheme with access from John Thorneycroft Road. A green wall 
screens the existing service yard.

1.2 The foodstore, in its entirety, was granted a change of use to a flexible D2 Leisure Use on 
18 October 2018 (Ref: 18/01588/FUL). The application described herein relates to the rear 
warehouse and ancillary staff accommodation associated with the former foodstore. 

1.3 The wider area is characterised by a mix of uses with residential being the most dominant.

2. Proposal

2.1 Planning permission is sought for a change of use. The unit is currently split over two levels 
with the sales floor and warehousing at Level 00 (Podium) and ancillary staff 
accommodation at Level 00B. In order to provide sufficient floor area and to accommodate 
the requisite number of storage ‘pods’ required to make this a viable proposition for the 
operator, this application proposes to extend the existing Level 00B mezzanine by 948 sqm 
to mirror the area of floorspace being converted at Level 00 (Podium Level 1493 sq.m). 
The extension of the mezzanine will not necessitate any external alterations to the building

2.2 As detailed within the submitted Business Plan, the operator plans to install approximately 
450 self-storage units ranging in size from 15 sqft up to 200 sqft, with an internal height of 
approximately 8 ft. The facility will be laid out over two levels with the upper level accessed 
by a freestanding goods lift. The storage centre will be accessed by way of a large roller 
shutter and covered loading bay, where items can be offloaded and transferred to the 
customer’s storage unit using trollies provided. Emergency access is provided out onto the 
terraced areas to the east.

2.3 In regard to servicing, it is proposed that the existing Service Yard would provide shared 
servicing access for the retained Leisure (D2) use as well as the proposed (B8) storage 
use.
The Leisure Unit is proposed to be occupied by ‘Altitude Jump’, a soft-play operator and 
planning permission already exists. The servicing requirements for such a use will be 
minimal. Servicing will be largely limited to occasional cleaning and maintenance related 
products (paper towels, cleaning products etc.) and restocking the small selection of 
consumables to be sold on site. Servicing access to the rear of the leisure unit will be 
maintained via the access point in the corner of the yard. All public and pedestrian access 
will be via the front of the unit. It is not envisaged that the servicing requirements of the 
leisure unit will demand the use of HGVs, unlike the consented foodstore. 

2.4 The proposed storage operator intends to keep the roller shutter open during opening 
hours so that customers will be able to drive straight into the loading bay without backing 
up into the street. This will be monitored by CCTV and on site staff. There will be a security 
door between the loading bay and the rest of the storage centre accessible by keypad/fob.

2.5 The B8 operator has provided average daily visitor figures for each of their current 
locations. The maximum figure is 7 daily visitors at their Chandlers Ford centre, which is 
regarded as comparable to this proposal.

2.6 Proposed hours of operation are 08:30 -20:00 Monday – Friday, 09:00 – 16:00 Saturday 
and Sunday. Four members of staff will be working from the facility.

Page 194



 
3. Relevant Planning Policy

3.1 The Development Plan for Southampton currently comprises the “saved” policies of the 
City of Southampton Local Plan Review (as amended 2015) and the City of Southampton 
Core Strategy (as amended 2015) and the City Centre Action Plan (adopted 2015).  The 
most relevant policies to these proposals are set out at Appendix 1.  

3.2 Major developments are expected to meet high sustainable construction standards in 
accordance with Core Strategy Policy CS20 and Local Plan “saved” Policy SDP13.

3.3 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was revised in February 2019. Paragraph 
213 confirms that, where existing local policies are consistent with the NPPF, they can 
been afforded due weight in the decision-making process. The Council has reviewed the 
Development Plan to ensure that it is in compliance with the NPPF and are satisfied that 
the vast majority of policies accord with the aims of the NPPF and therefore retain their full 
material weight for decision making purposes, unless otherwise indicated.

4. Relevant Planning History

4.1 In December 2012 planning permission was granted for phase 3 of the Centenary Quay 
mixed residential and employment development which was comprised of 329 residential 
units (102 x one bedroom, 178 x two bedroom and 49 x three bedroom units), a food store 
(Class A1 - 5,500 square metres), commercial space (Classes A1/A2/A3/A4 or B1 - 1,685 
sq. m) and a management suite (84 sq. m) in buildings ranging in height from four-storeys 
to twelve-storeys with associated basement car parking and cycle parking, landscaped 
public and private open spaces, servicing and other works including junction improvements 
and temporary access to the rivers edge. (Environmental Impact Assessment 
Development) (Application reference 12/00474/FUL).

4.2 In October 2018 planning permission was granted which allowed a change of use of the 
food retail store approved under planning permission 12/00474/FUL to leisure use (class 
D2) (Application reference 18/01588/FUL). The permission has not however currently been 
implemented.

5. Consultation Responses and Notification Representations

5.1 Following the receipt of the planning application a publicity exercise in line with department 
procedures was undertaken which included notifying adjoining and nearby landowners, 
and erecting a site notice 04.01.2019. At the time of writing the report four representations 
have been received from surrounding residents. Three letters of objection have been 
received along with one letter of support. The following is a summary of the points raised:

5.2 Change from leisure to self-storage not in keeping with the aesthetic and style of 
CQ. No contribution to vibrant community or modern Living. Shops in the plaza need 
a use that attracts more footfall than self-storage use. Vacant for 7 years, the 
promised supermarket has not been delivered and eating and drinking 
establishments have failed to succeed. Change from leisure to storage would further 
damage the area. 
Response
A small portion of the site would be converted to storage use, this is largely back of house. 
A larger portion of the site would remain in leisure use at the front of the unit fronting the 
square. The leisure use has the potential to attract footfall to the area. The whole of the 
Vosper Thorneycroft site is yet to be completed, once complete there would be more 
likelihood of retail use becoming more viable with increased potential footfall in the area.

Page 195



 
5.3 Insufficient employment generated as a result. 

Response 
A foodstore would generate more jobs than the proposal, but there is no interest and the 
site lies vacant. The remaining leisure use has the potential for greater employment 
generation than storage and given that that use occupies a larger proportion of the formerly 
proposed retail unit overall employment is not likely to be significantly negative when 
considering the site as a whole. In total four members of staff will be working from the 
facility.

5.4 No details of access arrangements or hours of business. 
Response 
The application form states the following proposed hours of use:

 Mon – Fri 08:30 - 20:00
 Saturday 09:00 – 16:00
 Sunday 09:00 – 16:00

Access will be via the existing covered loading bay.

5.5 1 letter of support: Good use for site, which has been empty since it was built. Many 
people moving in to the nearby dwellings are "downsizing" and similar storage 
locations are some distance away. It is clear that the original use as a supermarket 
is unlikely to be fulfilled. 
Response 
Agreed.

Consultation Responses

5.6 SCC Highways – Projected daily visitor numbers is low given the proposed end user. Daily 
visitor numbers could potentially increase in the event that the use expands to include 
distribution. Concern is raised regarding congestion and highways obstruction in the event 
that the vehicular access gate into the site is closed and locked when multiple vehicles 
arrive at the site at the same time. The agreed solution is to ensure that the vehicular 
access gate reaming open throughout the opening hours of proposed operator. Case 
Officer comment: A planning condition can be added to ensure that the B8 operator is 
limited to storage only with no distribution and that the gate is kept open.

5.7 SCC Planning Policy – Local Plan Policy MSA18 requires B1 (business) or B2 (general 
industrial) employment uses, or community uses at the site however, given that the 
conversion is restricted to a small area at the back of the unit, therefore leaving an 
acceptable sized unit at the front for a more active use (currently permission is granted for 
D2 leisure use), it is considered that the change of use to B8 (storage) is permissible. 

5.8 To summarise, despite the fact that the proposed B8 storage use class is not stated within 
the prescribed use classes for the site (see Local Plan Policy MSA18), and that the 
proposal therefore presents a departure from the plan, it is acknowledged that the change 
of use will only apply to the rear of the unit, thus ensuring that an active use will be retained 
to the front. In light of this, the application for 'Proposed change of use of part of the building 
from D2 Leisure Use to B8 Storage and the creation of mezzanine floor space' is not 
considered to be overly harmful to the vitality and sustainability of the mixed-use site and 
is therefore supported by the Planning Policy Team.

5.9 SCC Environmental Health (Pollution & Safety) - Assuming that there is no access 
outside of the stated hours when the unit is manned then no concerns are raised.

5.10 SCC Environmental Health (Contaminated Land) - No objection.

Page 196



 
6 Planning Consideration Key Issues

6.1 The key issues for consideration in the determination of this planning application are:
- The principle of development;
- Local amenity; and
- Parking, highways and transport.

 Principle of development

6.2 Permission for the supermarket was granted in December 2012. In early 2014 the unit 
was let to a national supermarket operator on a long-leasehold basis however, the 
decision was subsequently made by the supermarket operator not to occupy or fit out the 
store. Since 2014 the land owner has sought to secure an alternative foodstore operator 
for the unit with no success. Failure to deliver a food store in this location has also been 
impacted by the development and operation of a new Lidl food store which is 
approximately 0.3 miles from the site.

6.3 It is also noteworthy that the Centenary Quay development is currently only 50% 
complete. Once complete a supermarket in this location may again become viable. And 
this proposal does not prejudice future conversion.

6.4 The storage use is proposed to be located within an area of the site that was previously 
indicated as being used as the back of house space required for the food store. 
Proportionally the storage area would amount to 26% of the previous food store’s floor 
area. The space has no windows and does not lend itself to conversion for more active 
uses easily. This further supports the Councils view that the proposed departure is 
acceptable; only a small proportion of the site is proposed to change:

Floor area sq.m.

Food store (A1) 5732

Leisure use (D1) 4239
Storage use (B8) 1493
Additional 
Mezzanine Floor 
Space

948

Existing Mezzainine 
floor space

100

6.5 Furthermore the proposed space that would be changed is  back of house space which is 
located to the rear of the unit and is internal to the site with no windows and limited natural 
light. This serves to restrict the possible range of users interested in occupying the space 
defined by the application. Notwithstanding this, the land owner has been approached by 
‘Sentry Self Storage’ (SSL) a B8 self-storage operator for whom the space is perfectly 
suited. 

6.6 Therefore whilst the site is allocated, by MSA18, for mixed use including retail and 
employment use the Council are able to justify support for the proposal.

Local amenity

6.7 The Environmental Health Team are satisfied that the proposed use within the building will 
not generate significant noise. There is however concern raised regarding the coming and 
going of customers in vehicles, travelling on local roads, to the site which could impact local 
residents at anti-social hours of the day. The Environmental Health Team are however 

Page 197



 
satisfied that the proposed hours of operation will control the potential impact generated. 
The proposed hours of operation will accordingly be controlled by planning condition.

6.8 The approved foodstore would have been able to open between 07.00 to 24.00 (midnight).
6.9 A planning condition can be added to ensure that the B8 operator is associated with 

domestic/business self-storage of limited scale rather than a commercial storage and 
distribution operator which would potentially have a much greater local impact.

Transport

6.10 The proposed storage centre will be served by the existing vehicular parking within the 
existing basement car park and the covered loading bay where items can be offloaded and 
transferred to the customer’s storage unit using trollies provided. It is expected that 
vehicular movements will be at a significantly reduced frequency than would be otherwise 
required if the unit operated as a foodstore.

6.11 With appropriate conditions to restrict the use so that a large scale storage and distribution 
operator is not permitted to operate from the unit it is not considered that the use will result 
in significant transport problems. 

7 Summary

7.1 The proposed use is acceptable taking account of the length of time that the unit has been 
vacant and the limitations the unit exposes in terms of lack of windows or public frontage. 
The scheme would also not prejudice the potential for the use to again change in the future 
back to foodstore. Furthermore the impact of the development on surrounding amenity is 
considered acceptable.

8 Conclusion

8.1 It is recommended that planning permission be granted subject to relevant conditions. 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 
Documents used in the preparation of this report Background Papers
1. (a) (b) (c) (d) 2. (b) (c) (d) (e) (f) (g) 4.(f) (g) (vv) 6. (a) (b) 7. (a)

Case Officer Initials for 12/03/2019 PROW Panel

PLANNING CONDITIONS

1.Full Permission Timing Condition (Performance)
The development hereby permitted shall begin no later than three years from the date on which 
this planning permission was granted.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

2.Approved Plans
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 
listed in the schedule attached below, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3.Restricted Use (Performance)
Notwithstanding the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended) or any 
Order revoking, amending, or re-enacting that Order, the development hereby approved shall be 

Page 198



 
used only for the purposes indicated in the submitted details, namely self-storage, and not for any 
other purpose, including any other use within Use Class B8.
Reason: In the interest of the amenities of neighbouring occupiers. 

4.Service Yard Access - [Performance Condition].
All access doors\gates serving the service yard area and used to access the B8 storage unit 
hereby approved shall remain open during the approved opening hours granted in association with 
the B8 storage unit.
REASON: To limit the potential for highways obstruction by customers’ vehicles. 

5.Service Yard Use (Performance)
The servicing yard associated with the hereby approved use shall remain available for servicing 
purposes and at no time shall be used for any other purposes.
Reason: To ensure that servicing arrangements are retained for use by the operators of all units on 
site.

6.Hours of Use (Performance)
The use hereby approved shall not operate outside the following hours:
08.30 – 20.00 Mon – Fri. 
09.00 – 16.00 Sat and Sun
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of existing nearby residential properties.

Page 199



 
Application 18/02228/FUL              APPENDIX 1

POLICY CONTEXT

City of Southampton Local Plan Review – (as amended 2015)

SDP1 Quality of Development
SDP5 Parking
SDP16Noise
MSA18 Woolston Riverside, Victoria Road

Supplementary Planning Guidance 
Parking Standards SPD (September 2011)

Other Relevant Guidance
The National Planning Policy Framework (2019)

Page 200



 

Page 201



This page is intentionally left blank



DECISION-MAKER: PLANNING AND RIGHTS OF WAY PANEL
SUBJECT: QUARTERLY DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 

FIGURES
DATE OF DECISION: 12 MARCH 2019
REPORT OF: SERVICE MANAGER - DEVELOPMENT

CONTACT DETAILS
AUTHOR: Name: Stephen Harrison Tel: 023 8083 4330

E-mail: Stephen.harrison@southampton.gov.uk 
Service Lead Name: Samuel Fox Tel: 023 8083 2044

E-mail: Samuel.fox@southampton.gov.uk 

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
None 

BRIEF SUMMARY
The Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee requested that key planning metrics 
are provided to the Planning Panel on a regular basis.  The following information is 
therefore provided to the Panel in response to this request.  
RECOMMENDATIONS:

(i) That the Panel considers and notes the Development Management 
key metrics as set out in the paper and provides feedback (if 
necessary).

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS
1. To ensure that the Panel has a greater understanding of the performance of 

Development Management.  The nationally set target for performance is as 
follows:

 60% of Majors determined within 13/16 weeks
 70% of Non-Majors determined within 8 weeks 

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED
2. None. 

Page 203

Agenda Item 9

mailto:Stephen.harrison@southampton.gov.uk
mailto:Samuel.fox@southampton.gov.uk


DETAIL (Including consultation carried out)
3. The following table sets out the performance against the key planning metrics. 

MINORS AND OTHERS Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 QTR 3
Total Minors/Others Decisions 98 113 85 296
TOTAL RESULT 96.94% 91.15% 94.12% 93.92%
Out of time 3 10 5 18

MAJORS Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 QTR 3
Total Majors Decisions 8 1 3 12
TOTAL RESULT 100% 100% 100% 100%
Out of time 0 0 0 0

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
Capital/Revenue 
4. None.
Property/Other
5. None.
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report: 
6. Not applicable.
Other Legal Implications: 
7. Not applicable.
RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS
8. Not applicable.
POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS
9. Not applicable.

Page 204



KEY DECISION? No
WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: All

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION

Appendices 
1. None
Documents In Members’ Rooms
1. None. 
Equality Impact Assessment 
Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality and
Safety Impact Assessment (ESIA) to be carried out.

No

Data Protection Impact Assessment
Do the implications/subject of the report require a Data Protection 
Impact Assessment (DPIA) to be carried out.  

No

Other Background Documents
Other Background documents available for inspection at:
Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to 

Information Procedure Rules / 
Schedule 12A allowing document to 
be Exempt/Confidential (if 
applicable)

1. None

Page 205



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the Previous Meeting (including matters arising)
	5 Marlhill Copse Felling Licence and application for works subject to a tree preservation order.
	Appendix 1. Copy of the tree preservation order
	Appendix 2 - Southampton International Airport Aerodrome Safeguarding Obstacle Management Strategy
	Appendix 3 - Southampton International Airport Aerodrome Safeguarding Obstacle Management Strategy
	Appendix 4 - The Town & Country Planning (Tree preservation)(England) Regulations 2012
	Appendix 5 - Application 19/00006/TPO
	Appendix 6 - Letter from Civil Aviation Authority July 1983
	Appendix 7 - Report and minutes from Planning & Rights of Way panel March 2003
	Appendix 8 - Report and minutes from Planning & Rights of Way panel July 2003

	6 Facilitation of Phase 1 of SCN10 – A3024 Bursledon Road
	 Consideration of planning Applications
	7 Planning Application - 18/02272/FUL - 182-184 Bitterne Road West
	18.02272 Appendix 1 Policy
	18.02272 Appendix 2
	18.02272 Appendix 3
	18.02272 Appendix 4
	18.02272 Appendix 5
	18.02272 Appendix 6
	18.02272 Appendix 7 HMO Threshold Test results
	Site Map

	8 Planning Application - 18/02228/FUL - Parker House, Centenary Quay
	9 QUARTERLY DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT FIGURES

